



Online ISSN: 2645-4068





Volume 3, No. 2 Fall 2020



World Journal of Peri & Neonatology

Table of Contents

<u>Letter to Editor</u>

COVID-19 and Renal Complications in Neonates and Pediatrics

Review Article

Original Articles

Application of Golden Nanoparticles against Streptococcus Mutans for Prevention of Caries Lesions

Association of +505A>G Polymorphism at TAFI Gene with Recurrent Miscarriage in Iranian Women

A Meta-Analysis for Association of ACE I/D Polymorphism with Susceptibility to Preterm Birth

Review Articles

Immune and Non-Immune Etiology of Thrombocytopenia: Neonatal and Maternal Causes *Mohamad Hosein Lookzadeh, Seyed Reza Mirjalili, Sedigheh Ekraminasab......*78-86

Case Reports

A Case Report of Hyperphosphatasia Treated with Pamidronate	
Naser Ali Mirhosseini, Sana Taghiyar, Mahdieh Saatchi	

A Case Report of Familial Chylomicronemia Syndrome

Mahtab Ordooei, Fariba Binesh, Azam Ashrafi, Farzad Ferdosian, Maryam Saeida-Ardekani......90-93



Letter to Editor

http://wjpn.ssu.ac.ir

COVID-19 and Renal Complications in Neonates and Pediatrics

Reza Bahrami¹, Hossein Neamatzadeh^{2,3*}, Elahe Akbarian⁴

¹ Neonatal Research Center, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

ICU

² Department of Medical Genetics, School of Medicine, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

³ Mother and Newborn Health Research Center, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

⁴ Children Growth Disorder Research Center, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

Received: 30 June 2020	Revised: 08 August 2020	Accepted: 22 September 2020
ARTICLE INFO	Keywords	
Corresponding author:	Covid-19; Renal Dysfunction:	
Hossein Neamatzadeh	Neonates;	
Email:	Ventilation;	

Dear editor,

neamatzadehh@gmail.com

everal studies stated that course of COVID-19 in children is considerably adults.^{1–3} better COVID-19 than mortality rates in infected children is less than 1%.^{4,5} Some studies indicated the importance of renal function surveillance among infected children with COVID-19.4 However, there was no sufficient data on renal complications in infected children. The available data showed that ventilation in the infected children might be had less less aggressive and systemic involvement and renal dysfunction than adult patients.⁵ Normal renal function defined by serum creatinine (SCr) greater than 110 µmol/L or serum urea greater than 7 mmol/L. Shah et al., reported that the infection might be associated with new-onset nephrotic syndrome in the children.⁶ A study from northern China

evaluated the epidemiological history, clinical manifestations, treatment and the short-term prognosis of 31 infected children (6 months -17 years) from six provinces. The study showed that the clinical manifestations and laboratory examination results are nonspecific in the infected children. Moreover, renal function and blood glucose were normal in the infected children.' Other study among nine Chinese infected infants (age ranges: 1-11 months) showed that those infants did not require intensive and had care no serious complications.⁸ In a study, Qui et al. described the clinical and epidemiological characteristics of 36 Chinese hospitalized children (age 0-16 years). Their results showed that none of the children had renal dysfunction.⁹ Stewart et al., described data of 52 infected children (age 0-16 years) who referred to Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children NHS Foundation Trust (London, UK). Their data showed that 24 (46%) of those children had a SCr greater than the upper limit of reference interval (ULRI), and 15 (29%) met the British Association of Pediatric Nephrology (BAPN) diagnostic criteria for acute kidney injury (AKI). Moreover, most cases of AKI occurred in those children who admitted to the pediatrics ICU (PICU) and those children with pediatrics multisystem syndrome inflammatory temporarily associated with the infection.⁴ Deep et al., have reported that the incidence of AKI in infected children might be between 2% and 3%.⁵ But, their reports was less than the epidemiology of 26% renal dysfunction in children admitted to PICU.¹⁰ Moreover. González-Dambrauskas et al., in a multicenter epidemiological study of critically ill children indicated that AKI occurred in 18% of patients. They proposed that pediatric patients with a comorbidity such as congenital heart diseases and congenital renal diseases and renal transplant patients are at higher risk of renal complications.¹¹

How to Cite: Bahrami R, Neamatzadeh H, Akbarian E. COVID-19 and Renal Complications in Neonates and Pediatrics. World J Peri & Neonatol 2020; 3(2): 48-9. DOI: 10.18502/wjpn.v3i2.6153

References

- Jarahzadeh HM, Asadian F, Farbod M, Meibodi B, Abbasi H, Jafari M, et al. Cancer and coronavirus disease (COVID-19): Comorbidity, mechanical ventilation, and death risk. J Gastrointest Cancer 2021; 52(1): 80-84.
- 2. Antikchi MH, Neamatzadeh H, Ghelmani Y, Jafari-Nedooshan J, Dastgheib SA, Kargar S, et al. The risk and prevalence of COVID-19 infection in colorectal cancer patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastrointest Cancer. 2021; 52(1): 73-79.

- Karimi-Zarchi M, Neamatzadeh H, Dastgheib SA, Abbasi H, Mirjalili SR, Behforouz A, et al. Vertical transmission of coronavirus disease 19 (COVID-19) from infected pregnant mothers to neonates: A review. Fetal Pediatr Pathol 2020; 39(3):246-50.
- Stewart DJ, Hartley JC, Johnson M, Marks SD, du Pré P, Stojanovic J. Renal dysfunction in hospitalised children with COVID-19. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2020; 4(8): e28-e29.
- 5. Deep A, Bansal M, Ricci Z. Acute kidney injury and special considerations during renal replacement therapy in children with coronavirus disease-19: Perspective from the critical care nephrology section of the european society of pediatric and neonatal intensive care. Blood Purif 2021; 50(2): 150-60.
- 6. Shah SA, Carter HP. New-onset nephrotic syndrome in a child associated with COVID-19 infection. Front Pediatr 2020; 8: 471.
- Wang D, Ju XL, Xie F, Lu Y, Li FY, Huang HH, et al. [Clinical analysis of 31 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus infection in children from six provinces (autonomous region) of northern China]. Zhonghua Er Ke Za Zhi 2020; 58(4): 269-74. [In Chinese].
- Hong H, Wang Y, Chung HT, Chen CJ. Clinical characteristics of novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in newborns, infants and children. Pediatr Neonatol 2020; 61(2): 131-2.
- Qiu H, Wu J, Hong L, Luo Y, Song Q, Chen D. Clinical and epidemiological features of 36 children with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in Zhejiang, China: An observational cohort study The Lancet Infectious Diseases 2020;20(6):689-96.
- 10. Kaddourah A, Basu RK, Bagshaw SM, Goldstein SL. Epidemiology of acute kidney injury in critically Ill children and young adults. N Engl J Med 2017; 376(1): 11-20.
- González-Dambrauskas S, Vásquez- Hoyos P, Camporesi A, Díaz-Rubio F, Piñeres-Olave BE, Fernández-Sarmiento J, et al. Pediatric critical care and COVID-19 pediatrics 2020;146(3):e20201766.



Review Article

http://wjpn.ssu.ac.ir

Current State of Knowledge about Transplacental Transmission of SARS-CoV-2 Infection

Atiyeh Javaheri¹, Mahmood Noorishadkam², Mahta Mazaheri^{2,3,4}, Ali Dadbinpour³, Seyed Alireza Dastgheib⁵, Reza Bahrami^{6*}, Mojgan Karimi-Zarchi^{7,8}, Fatemeh Asadian⁹, Hossein Neamatzadeh^{2,3}

¹ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

² Mother and Newborn Health Research Center, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

³ Department of Medical Genetics, School of Medicine, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

⁴ Stem Cell Biology Research Center, Yazd Reproductive Sciences Institute, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

⁵ Department of Medical Genetics, School of Medicine, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

⁶ Neonatal Research Center, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

⁷ Endometriosis Research Center, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

⁸ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

⁹ Department of Medical Laboratory Sciences, School of Paramedical Science, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

Received: 26 August 2020

Revised: 23 September 2020

Accepted: 15 October 2020

ARTICLE INFO

Corresponding author: Reza Bahrami

Email: r.bahrami.neo@gmail.com

Keywords:

COVID-19; SARS-CoV-2; Placenta; Intrauterine Transmission; Transplacental Transmission; Neonates

ABSTRACT

Background: To date, some cases of perinatal transmission of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) have been reported. However, it is unanswered if these occurred via the trans-placental or the trans-cervical route or through environmental exposure.

Methods: To address this question, we conducted this study to review the current state of knowledge about the transplacental transmission of COVID-19.

Results: There are no known placental findings associated with the COVID-19 infection. The possibility of intrauterine infection has been based mainly on the detection of IgM in the neonatal blood. Real time-PCR tests on amniotic fluid, placenta, and cord blood are required to ascertain the possibility of intrauterine vertical transmission.

Conclusion: There is currently no sufficient and convincing evidence about the transplacental transmission of SARS-COV-2 infection in pregnant mothers. However, the paucity of placental expression of ACE-2 involved in the cytoplasmic entry of SARS-CoV-2 may explain its relative insensitivity to transplacental infection.

Introduction

ARS-CoV-2 infection. the first pandemic of the century, causes the new coronavirus disease (COVID-19). Since the first case of a COVID-19 infection was detected in Wuhan (Hubei Province, China), China, a series of confirmed cases of the COVID-19 were found globally.¹⁻⁵ After the SARS-CoV epidemic which in 2003 caused outbreaks in six countries, some studies revealed that the infection led to some adverse outcomes in pregnant women, such as spontaneous pregnancy loss, preterm delivery, and restricted intrauterine growth (IUGR).⁶ However, a matched study comparing the clinical course and outcomes of pregnant mothers infected with SARS-CoV with nonpregnant mothers found that pregnant and nonpregnant women had similar clinical symptoms and presentation, but that pregnant mothers had evidence of more severe SARS.⁷ of Moreover. symptoms the association between adverse pregnancy outcomes and physiopathological changes connected to the Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS) was reported.⁸ Recent data showed that COVID-19 may be associated with a higher rate of caesareans (CS), preterm births, miscarriage, stillbirth and the virus may be able to cross the placenta to a fetus.⁹⁻¹¹ However, it is unclear yet whether these obstetrical outcomes were as a result of the coronavirus.^{12,13} Some studies reported that the COVID-19 infection in pregnant mothers may be associated with mild or moderate disease in most cases, with a low morbidity and mortality rate.¹⁴⁻¹⁶

Evidence showed that the neonatal infection with COVID-19 is usually asymptomatic and detection rates of Real time-PCR (RT) and the interpretation of IgM, IgG and IL-6 antibodies levels in cord and samples of products of conception (placenta, amniotic fluid and umbilical cord blood) are discussed concerning the immaturity of the fetal and neonatal immune system.¹⁷ COVID-19 could be recovered by RT-PCR from nasal and throat swabs, sputum and feces of symptomatic neonates but not from vaginal swabs, amniotic fluid, placenta, cord blood, neonatal blood or mother's milk. A study including 247 deliveries from infected mothers reported that 63 cases were preterm. One in 20 of neonates born to the tested positive for Covid-19, and five of the neonates died. Three of the deaths appear to have been unrelated to the Covid-19, but two of them might have been linked to virus. Another study including 108 infected mothers revealed that 91% of the neonates were delivered by CS. The first case series have described the clinical features and outcomes of pregnancy in infected mothers with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China reported adverse perinatal outcomes including increased risks of miscarriage, preeclampsia, preterm birth, and stillbirth in the infected mothers.^{18,19}

There is an imperative need for conclusive data and research on the possibility of transplacental migration of COVID-19 as well as needed.²⁰ comorbidity is pregnancy Previously, in a study, we reported that COVID-19 did not transfer vertically from neonates.¹³ women to their pregnant Similarly, Silva et al., in a review concluded that there was no convincing evidence for vertical transmission of COVID-19 in pregnant mothers infected during the third trimester of pregnancy, as also reported for COVID-19 infection.²¹ However, some studies which examined the placenta for the presence of COVID-19 using molecular, immunohistochemical techniques and electron have revealed COVID-19 microscopy invasion of the placenta, highlighting the for severe morbidity among potential pregnant women with Covid-19.²² Thus, questions concerning vertical transmission of COVID-19 from infected mothers to neonates remain unanswered. To address this issue, we performed this review to confirm maternalfetal infection and known mechanisms that COVID-19 virus was used to trans-placental pathogen migration.

Placenta Findings

Yang et al., in a review of 20 studies including 222 neonates using data on umbilical cord blood, placenta, and/or amniotic fluid have summarized the evidence on vertical transmission of COVID-19. They showed that there is no proof to support the intrauterine vertical transmission of COVID-19.²³ In another review based on five studies from Chinese women who were diagnosed with COVID-19 late in pregnancy (3rd trimester), Cheruiyot et al., demonstrated that there is no definitive evidence of intra-uterine vertical transmission of COVID-19 in pregnant women diagnosed in the third trimester.²⁴ Patanè et al., in a study including 22 infected mothers by COVID-19 who delivered at Papa Giovanni XXIII Hospital, Bergamo, Italy, examined the possibility of vertical transmission of COVID-19. They have described the first report of cases of positive PCR for SARS-CoV-2 in mother, neonate and placental tissue. Two of those neonates, born from infected mothers, resulted positive for PCR of nasopharyngeal swab. The placentas of these two women who delivered infected neonates with positive nasopharyngeal swab showed chronic intervillositis, with presence of macrophages, both in the intervillous and the villous space. Moreover, the immunohistochemical tests demonstrated chronic intervillositis with CD68+ They macrophages infiltration. revealed that the Single-molecule RNA in situ hybridization raises the possibility of direct visualization of the COVID-19 virus. evaluating the molecular target COVID-19 spike protein mRNA while retaining tissue morphology, a feature that is lost in other methods such as PCR. The presence of COVID-19 virus RNA in the syncytiotrophoblast signifies presence of the virus on the fetal side.²⁵In a first report, Algarroba et al., examined potential COVID-19 transmission in the placenta using electron microscopy. Their results demonstrated that the COVID-19 virus invasion in placental tissue and placental infection was associated COVID-19.²⁶ Mahyuddin et with al.. 40 reviewed studies of COVID-19 pregnancies to confirm maternal-fetal infection and known protective mechanisms of the placental barrier that prevent transplacental pathogen migration. In the reviewed studies there was no consensus on diagnostic strategy for congenital infection during covid-19 pandemic. In those studies, the molecular RT-PCR assay of neonatal swabs and a wide range of clinical samples including vaginal secretions, amniotic fluid, breast milk and umbilical cord blood were performed. The study showed that neonatal COVID-19 was reported in eight studies, two of which were based on the detection of COVID-19 IgM in neonatal blood. Moreover, histological tests revealed sparse the virus particles, vascular mal-perfusion and inflammation in the placenta from infected mothers.²⁷ Shanes et al., in a study examined 16 placentas from infected mothers (15 with live birth in the 3rd trimester and one delivered in the 2nd trimester after intrauterine fetal demise). Their results revealed that third trimester placentas were significantly more likely to show at least one feature of maternal vascular malperfusion (MVM) such as abnormal or injured maternal vessels, as well as delayed villous maturation, chorangiosis, and intervillous thrombi than healthy subjects. The placenta from the infected mother with intrauterine fetal death showed villous edema and a retroplacental hematoma. However, the rates of acute and chronic inflammation were not increased. Their results suggested a systemic inflammatory or hypercoagulable state influencing placental physiology.²⁸

Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2

Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) is described as renin-angiotensin system (RAS) component and modulates blood pressure, inflammation, and fibrosis and is crucial to the pathophysiology of hypertension, cardiovascular disease, and chronic kidney disease.^{29,30} ACE inhibitors are often the first-

line agents to treat the conditions in children and are among the most commonly prescribed antihypertensive medications to children.²⁹ ACE2 has been established as one of the main the functional host receptors for COVID-19 and may increase the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection and COVID-19.^{31,32} Like the previous SARS-CoV, it is suggested that SARS-CoV-2 binds to ACE2 to gain entry to host cells on the respiratory tract epithelium. Importantly, SARS-CoV-2 is more pathogenic, at least in part because of its 10- to 20-fold increased binding affinity to ACE2.^{33,34} These findings may partially explain the easier transmissibility of SARS-CoV-2 and that raised ACE2 expression may confer increased susceptibility to host cell entry of SARS-CoV-2. However, it seems that ACE2-expressing organs do not equally participate in COVID-19 pathophysiology, implying that other mechanisms are involved in orchestrating cellular infection resulting in tissue damage.³⁵

Studies demonstrated that ACE2 was highly expressed in maternal-fetal interface cells such as stromal cells and perivascular cells of decidua, and cytotrophoblast and syncytiotrophoblast in placenta.36,37 Meng et al., collected the online available single-cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq) data to evaluate the cell specific expression of ACE2 in maternal-fetal interface. Their results revealed that the SARS-CoV-2 receptor was widely spread in specific cell types of maternal-fetal interface and fetal organs. Taking these functions into account, COVID-19 may disturb the female reproductive ACE2.³⁸ functions through regulating Moreover, the target towards the interaction between SARS-CoV-2 and ACE2 during the pandemic may be useful for treatment of the disease.39,40

Conclusion

A few pieces of evidence but not definitive support the possibility of trans-placental transmission of SARS-CoV-2 infection in pregnant mothers. The placentas of the infected mothers have higher rates of decidual arteriopathy and other maternal vascular malperfusion features. Practically, possible perinatal exposure such as delivery mode and time interval from delivery to the diagnosis of neonatal infection is pivotal in ascertaining congenital from perinatal infection. The paucity of placental expression of ACE-2 involved in cytoplasmic entry of COVID-19 may explain its relative insensitivity to transplacental infection. RT-PCR tests on amniotic fluid, placenta, and cord blood are necessary to determine the possibility of trans-placental of SARS-CoV-2 infection. transmission Moreover, the in situ hybridization of COVID-19 RNA in the infected placentas increases the possibility of estimating the viral load in cells with morphological context. High quality studies are needed to further evaluate the possibility of crossing COVID-19 from placental barriers in pregnant women.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the editors and the anonymous reviewers for insightful suggestions on this study.

How to Cite: Javaheri A, Noorishadkam M, Mazaheri M, Dadbinpour A, Dastgheib SA, Bahrami R, et al. Current State of Knowledge about Transplacental Transmission of SARS-CoV-2 Infection. World J Peri & Neonatol 2020; 3(2): 50-5.

DOI: 10.18502/wjpn.v3i2.6154

References

- 1. Li Y, Zhao R, Zheng S, Chen X, Wang J, Sheng X, et al. Lack of vertical transmission of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2, China. Emerg Infect Dis 2020; 26(6): 1335-6.
- Breslin N, Baptiste C, Gyamfi-Bannerman C, Miller R, Martinez R, Bernstein K, et al. Coronavirus disease 2019 infection among asymptomatic and symptomatic pregnant women: two weeks of confirmed presentations to an affiliated pair of New York City

hospitals. Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM 2020; 2(2): 100118.

- 3. Eslami H, Jalili M. The role of environmental factors to transmission of SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19). AMB Express 2020; 10(1): 92.
- 4. Antikchi MH, Neamatzadeh H, Ghelmani Y, Jafari-Nedooshan J, Dastgheib SA, Kargar S, et al. The risk and prevalence of COVID-19 infection in colorectal cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gastrointest Cancer 2021; 52(1): 73-9.
- Jarahzadeh HM, Asadian F, Farbod M, Meibodi B, Abbasi H, Jafari M, et al. Cancer and coronavirus disease (COVID-19): Comorbidity, mechanical ventilation, and death risk. J Gastrointest Cancer 2020; 52(1): 80-4.
- Jamieson DJ, Jernigan DB, Ellis JE, Treadwell TA. Emerging infections and pregnancy: West nile virus, monkeypox, severe acute respiratory syndrome, and bioterrorism. Clin Perinatol 2005; 32(3): 765-76.
- Lam CM, Wong SF, Leung TN, Chow KM, Yu WC, Wong TY, et al. A case-controlled study comparing clinical course and outcomes of pregnant and non-pregnant women with severe acute respiratory syndrome. BJOG 2004; 111(8): 771-4.
- Schwartz DA. An analysis of 38 pregnant women with COVID-19, their newborn infants, and maternal-fetal transmission of SARS-CoV-2: Maternal coronavirus infections and pregnancy outcomes. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2020; 144(7): 799-805.
- 9. Alberca RW, Pereira NZ, Oliveira LMDS, Gozzi-Silva SC, Sato MN. Pregnancy, viral iInfection, and COVID-19. Front Immunol 2020; 11: 1672.
- 10. Della Gatta AN, Rizzo R, Pilu G, Simonazzi G. Coronavirus disease 2019 during pregnancy: a systematic review of reported cases. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2020; 223(1): 36-41.
- 11.Diriba K, Awulachew E, Getu E. The effect of coronavirus infection (SARS-CoV-2, MERS-CoV, and SARS-CoV) during pregnancy and the possibility of vertical maternal-fetal transmission: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Eur J Med Res 2020; 25(1): 39.
- 12.Hamzelou J. Coronavirus may cross placenta. New Sci 2020; 246(3282): 11.
- 13.Karimi-Zarchi M, Neamatzadeh H, Dastgheib

SA, Abbasi H, Mirjalili SR, Behforouz A, et al. Vertical transmission of coronavirus disease 19 (COVID-19) from infected pregnant mothers to neonates: a review. Fetal Pediatr Pathol 2020; 39(3): 246-50.

- 14.Wang C, Zhou Y -H., Yang H -X., Poon LC. Intrauterine vertical transmission of SARS-CoV-2: what we know so far. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2020; 55(6): 724-5.
- 15.Di Mascio D, Khalil A, Saccone G, Rizzo G, Buca D, Liberati M, et al. Outcome of coronavirus spectrum infections (SARS, MERS, COVID-19) during pregnancy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM 2020; 2(2): 100107.
- 16. Huntley BJF, Huntley ES, Mascio D Di, Chen T, Berghella V, Chauhan SP. Rates of maternal and perinatal mortality and vertical transmission in pregnancies complicated by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-Co-V-2) infection: a systematic review. Obstet Gynecol 2020; 136(2): 303-12.
- 17.Lamouroux A, Attie-Bitach T, Martinovic J, Leruez-Ville M, Ville Y. Evidence for and against vertical transmission for SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19). Am J Obstet Gynecol 2020; 223(1): 91.e1-91.e4.
- 18. Yang H, Sun G, Tang F, Peng M, Gao Y, Peng J, et al. Clinical features and outcomes of pregnant women suspected of coronavirus disease 2019. J Infect 2020; 81(1): e40-4.
- 19. Yu N, Li W, Kang Q, Xiong Z, Wang S, Lin X, et al. Clinical features and obstetric and neonatal outcomes of pregnant patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective, single-centre, descriptive study. Lancet Infect Dis 2020; 20(5): 559-64.
- 20.Ferraiolo A, Barra F, Kratochwila C, Paudice M, Vellone VG, Godano E, et al. Report of positive placental Swabs for SARS-CoV-2 in an asymptomatic pregnant woman with COVID-19. Medicina (Kaunas) 2020; 56(6): 306.
- 21. Simões e Silva AC, Leal CRV. Is SARS-CoV-2 vertically transmitted? Front Pediatr 2020; 8: 276.
- 22.Hosier H, Farhadian SF, Morotti RA, Deshmukh U, Lu-Culligan A, Campbell KH, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infection of the placenta. J Clin Invest 2020; 130(9): 4947-53.
- 23. Yang Z, Liu Y. Vertical transmission of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2: a systematic review. Am J Perinatol 2020; 37(10): 1055-60.

- 24. Cheruiyot I, Henry BM, Lippi G. Is there evidence of intra-uterine vertical transmission potential of COVID-19 infection in samples tested by quantitative RT-PCR? Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2020; 249: 100-1.
- 25.Patanè L, Morotti D, Giunta MR, Sigismondi C, Piccoli MG, Frigerio L, et al. Vertical transmission of COVID-19: SARS-CoV-2 RNA on the fetal side of the placenta in pregnancies with COVID-19 positive mothers and neonates at birth. Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM MFM 2020; 2(3): 100145.
- 26.Algarroba GN, Rekawek P, Vahanian SA, Khullar P, Palaia T, Peltier MR, et al. Visualization of SARS-CoV-2 virus invading the human placenta using electron microscopy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2020; 223(2): 275-x8.
- 27. Mahyuddin A, Kanneganti A, Wong J, Dimri PS, Su L, Biswas A, et al. Mechanisms and evidence of vertical transmission of infections in pregnancy including SARS-CoV-2. Prenat Diagn 2020; 40(13): 1655-70.
- 28.Shanes ED, Mithal LB, Otero S, Azad HA, Miller ES, Goldstein JA. Placental pathology in COVID-19. Am J Clin Pathol 2020; 154(1): 23-32.
- 29.South AM, Brady TM, Flynn JT. ACE2 (Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2), COVID-19, and ACE inhibitor and Ang II (Angiotensin II) receptor blocker use during the pandemic. Hypertension 2020; 76(1): 16-22.
- 30. Moghimi M, Kargar S, Jafari MA, Ahrar H, Jarahzadeh MH, Neamatzadeh H, et al. Angiotensin converting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism is associated with breast cancer risk: a meta-analysis. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2018; 19(11): 3225-31.
- 31.Andersen KG, Rambaut A, Lipkin WI, Holmes EC, Garry RF. The proximal origin of SARS-CoV-2. Nat Med 2020; 26(4): 450-2.
- 32.Gheblawi M, Wang K, Viveiros A, Nguyen Q, Zhong JC, Turner AJ, et al. Angiotensin-

converting enzyme 2: SARS-CoV-2 receptor and regulator of the renin-angiotensin system: celebrating the 20th Anniversary of the Discovery of ACE2. Circ Res 2020; 126(10): 1456-74.

- 33. Jia HP, Look DC, Shi L, Hickey M, Pewe L, Netland J, et al. ACE2 receptor expression and severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus infection depend on differentiation of human airway epithelia. J Virol 2005; 79(23): 14614-21.
- 34.Li H, Liu SM, Yu XH, Tang SL, Tang CK. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): current status and future perspectives. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2020; 55(5): 105951.
- 35.Bourgonje AR, Abdulle AE, Timens W, Hillebrands J, Navis GJ, Gordijn SJ, et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), SARS-CoV -2 and the pathophysiology of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID -19). J Pathol 2020; 251(3): 228-48.
- 36.Zheng Q-L, Duan T, Jin L-P. Single-cell RNA expression profiling of ACE2 and AXL in the human maternal-Fetal interface. Reprod Dev Med 2020; 4(1): 7-10.
- 37.Sungnak W, Huang N, Bécavin C, Berg M, Queen R, Litvinukova M, et al. SARS-CoV-2 entry factors are highly expressed in nasal epithelial cells together with innate immune genes. Nat Med 2020; 26(5): 681-7.
- 38.Li M, Chen L, Zhang J, Xiong C, Li X. The SARS-CoV-2 receptor ACE2 expression of maternal-fetal interface and fetal organs by single-cell transcriptome study. PLoS One 2020; 15(4): e0230295.
- 39. Kai H, Kai M. Interactions of coronaviruses with ACE2, angiotensin II, and RAS inhibitorslessons from available evidence and insights into COVID-19. Hypertens Res 2020; 43(7): 648-54.
- 40.Crisci CD, Ardusso LRF, Mossuz A, Müller L. A precision medicine approach to SARS-CoV-2 pandemic management. Curr Treat Options Allergy 2020; 1-19.



Original Article

http://wjpn.ssu.ac.ir

Application of Golden Nanoparticles against *Streptococcus Mutans* for Prevention of Caries Lesions

Karim Daliri¹, Neda Seifi-Shalamzari^{2*}, Maryam Saeida-Ardekani³, Sedigheh Ekraminasab³, Hossein Neamatzadeh^{3,4}

¹ Department of Medical Genetics, School of Medicine, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

² Department of Emergency Medicine, Shahrekord University of Medical Science, Shahrekord, Iran

³ Mother and Newborn Health Research Center, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

⁴ Department of Medical Genetics, School of Medicine, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

Received: 22 July 2020

Revised: 5 September 2020

Accepted: 6 October 2020

ARTICLE INFO

Corresponding author: Neda Seifi-Shalamzari

Email: seifi4145@gmail.com

Keywords: Dental caries;

Nanoparticles; Streptococcus mutans; Antimicrobial; Fluoride

ABSTRACT

Background: Dental caries also known as baby bottle tooth decay, is a critical public health problem around the world for which *Streptococcus mutans* (*S.mutans*) has been introduced as the main infectious etiology. In the past two decades, nanotechnology has permitted the development of new materials with antimicrobial properties. The aim of this study was to compare the bactericidal and bacteriostatic effects of three golden nanoparticles (SP, NR, and CS) on *S.mutans*.

Methods: To determine the minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) and the minimum bactericidal concentrations (MBCs), a liquid dilution method was applied.

Results: All golden nanoparticles (GNPs) showed antimicrobial activity with no statistically significant differences (> 0.05) in MIC or MBC.

Conclusion: Our findings revealed that the size and shape of the nanoparticles did not significantly affect the antimicrobial properties of the GNPs. This finding might be useful for achieving important clinical effects with reduced toxicity in the management of early childhood caries in future in vivo studies.

Introduction

E arly childhood caries (ECC) has become a major health problem, especially in the poor social population. It is characterized as the presence of one or more decayed, missing, or filled primary teeth in children aged 71 months or younger. It has several unique clinical features, such as the rapid growth of caries, which will soon affect several teeth after appearing in the oral cavity. These lesions include dental surfaces that are less susceptible to caries development.^{1,2} The etiology of ECC is multifactorial and is mostly associated with the specific interaction of microorganisms with sugars on a tooth surface. Other main causes of the ECC development include poor oral hygiene, lack of fluoride exposure, and enamel defects.³

Streptococcus mutans (S.mutans), Streptococcus subbrinus and Lactobacillus are the most commonly associated microorganisms in the development of caries lesions. S.mutans is the main pathogen in dental caries isolated from human heart valves and the blood in patients with endocarditis.^{4,5} The prevalence of caries in preschool children with high levels of S.mutans in the oral cavity is higher. They also have a greater risk for development of new lesions.^{6,7} Streptococcus mutans is usually transmitted to young children through their mothers and high maternal salivary levels of S.mutans increases the risk of transmission. The prevention or delay of early mutans streptococci colonization in children is associated with lower caries prevalence.^{8,9}

Recent evidences have revealed increases in resistance of various pathogenic bacteria against numerous synthetic drugs. Recently, applying golden nanoparticles (GNPs) as a delivery vehicle of antibiotic agents to improve their capacity for targeting a wide range of bacteria emerged as a highly demanding topic of research in the field of nanotechnology. To overcome this problem different reports on using Au (I) and Au (III) complexes for their antimicrobial activity against a wide variety of microorganisms released.^{10,11} have Moreover, different classification of GNPs are available for instance Au (I) complexes categorized into three categories based on the ligand types a) phosphine ligands b) N-heterocyclic carbene ligands c) other Au (I) complexes. The purpose for the development of gold

complexes is their solubility in water and potential application as therapeutic agents.¹²

One main challenge is assessing nanoparticle toxicity to develop them for imaging, and drug delivery. It should be mentioned that if nanoparticles do not enter cells, they have less side effects such as killing cells or changing cellular function so considering dimensional limitations in designing nanoparticles for targeting cells needs more investigations on different cells. It should also take into account that gold nanoparticles have relatively good low toxicity biocompatibility and in comparison to other kinds of inorganic nanoparticles.^{13,14}

Specific surface area and the reactivity of GNPs' facets affect their antibacterial activity; particles with larger effective contact area present stronger antibacterial activity.¹⁴ Thus, gold nanowires show the weakest antibacterial activity compared with silver nanocubes and nanospheres because of their weak contact with bacteria. However, the antimicrobial activities of nanoparticle colloids of different shapes are not yet clear.¹⁵ The purpose of this study is therefore to determine whether the size and morphology of golden nanoparticles in colloidal solution alter their antimicrobial activity. We characterized the shape and size of three different GNPs in this study [gold nanospheres, nanorods, and core/shell silica/gold nanocrystals], which were coated with monocarboxy (1-mercaptoundechexaethvlene glycol and 11-vl) their antimicrobial activity against reference stocks of Streptococcus mutans ATCC 25175 were analyzed as well.

Materials and Methods

AuNPs: We applied four available models of morphologically different GNPs including spherical (SP), rodlike (NR), and core/shell silica/gold (CS). All GNPs were stabilized with monocarboxy (1-mercaptoundec-11-yl) hexamethylene glycol (OEG) which improves the stability of NPs for aggregation and decreases the possibility of nonspecific interactions with biological molecules such as serum proteins. Additionally, the negative charge of the OEG GNPs lowers their cellular toxicity. The morphology, size, and shapes of GNPs were identified using transmission electron microscopy (TEM), zeta potential measurement and spectrophotometer. TEM measurements were done on JEOL and JEM-1400 at an elevated voltage of 120 KV. A drop of colloidal gold solutions from 10 mM and 20 mM was put on TEM copper lace. After 5 minutes of drying and removing extra solution by a blotting paper, size diffusion of GNPs was measured on images of TEM. The hydrodynamic diameter of GNPs was calculated using zeta sizer nano-ZS (Malvern instrument, Malvern, UK) following the data analysis in an automated UVvisible way. The spectroscopic measurement was observed using single beam spectrophotometer (Systronics 169) at distinct wavelength (300-600 nm).

Antimicrobial tests

Strain and medium: Streptococcus mutans ATCC 25175 was utilized as the microbial strain which was precultivated in brain heart infusion (BHI) broth (Himedia).

Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (*MBC*): The minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) was assessed utilizing a spectrophotometric microdilution method (SMM) and turbidity. Then resazurin (Sigma, St Louis, USA) as oxidation-reduction indicator to investigate viable antimicrobial activity was added. The three doses were determined for the GNPs solution. The 20 µL (low dose) solution included 1.35 µg Au NPs, 30 µL (medium dose) contained 2.03 µg Au NPs and 40 µL (high dose) contained 2.70 µg Au NPs. Four tubes of each dose were made and incubated at 37 °C for 24 h. The wells were supplied with 100 μ l BHI, 100 µl test solution, and 10 µl exponentially growing bacterial culture (about 108 colony-forming units/mL). A 200 µL from each tube was distributed in each microwell plate and seen by spectrophotometer. The

optical density (OD) values from ELISA reader were used in absorption mode which covered the bacterial growth in each sample. Three values of OD for each sample and their mean were calculated with standard deviation (SD). Four tubes of each dose were made ready and incubated at 37°C for 24 h. The minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) was discovered from the MIC value; 10 µl of the solution was pipetted from wells, located on BHI agar, and incubated at 37°C for 18 h anaerobically. For each GNP. four concentrations were examined: the MIC value, two concentrations above, and one below. The MIC values were indicated as the lowest concentration effective in suppressing bacterial growth. The MBC was defined at the point when aliquots from the MIC wells did not show visible bacterial growth on agar plates. All the experiments were done in triplicate.

Results

Characterization of nanoparticles: Figure 1 displays TEM pictures of all the different types of nanoparticles.



Figure 1. TEM images of gold nanoparticles: a) gold nanospheres, b) gold nanorods, c) hollow gold nanoparticles

The average size of each type AuNPs was measured by TEM images. All GNPs were stabilized with monocarboxy (1-mercaptoundec-11-yl) hexaethylene glycol (OEG). The OEG capping layer enhances the stability of NPs against aggregation and minimizes the feasibility of nonspecific interplays with biological molecules such as serum proteins. Furthermore, the negative charge of the OEG GNPs decreases their possible cellular toxicity, whereas the ethylene glycol units may enhance the retention times of the particles in the blood. The nanoparticles were identified with TEM, zeta potential measurements. and The nanoparticles were robust in solution and did not display any signs of aggregation. Moreover, the zeta potential measurements showed a strong negative charge for all the types of OEG GNPs. The average number of OEGs attached to each nanoparticle was detected with Ellman's method. Ten independent measurements were performed for each type of NP (Table 1). The number of capping ligands was adequate to provide the appropriate surface stabilization.

Table 1. Physicochemical characterization of

 OEG-capped gold nanoparticles of
 different morphologies

		- F 8	
OEG	core (nm)	Diameter	Charge
NSP		(nm)	(Mv)
SP	14 ± 1	27 ± 1	-26 ± 2
NR	$18 \pm 1/43 \pm 1$	-	-29 ± 1
CS	$26\pm1/7\pm2$	45 ± 4	-31 ± 2

Antimicrobial activity of AuNPs: The bactericidal property of metals depends on the contact surface with bacterial cells, so using GNPs against *Streptococcus mutans* appears to be an alternative for stopping bacterial growth, since the large surface area of nanoparticles allows a wide range of interactions with organic and inorganic molecules. The MIC and MBC values were 3.1 ± 1.1 and $2.1 \ \mu g \ mL^{-1}$ for SP, 3.2 ± 1.7 and 4.2 $\mu g~mL^{-1}$ for NR, 3.4 \pm 1.3, and 2.2 μ g mL⁻¹ for CS, respectively. The results significantly were not different (P = 0.32) for both MIC and MBC (Table 2).

Table 2. MIC and MBC of golden nanoparticles for Streptococcus mutans ATCC 25175

GNPs	MIC (µg mL-1)	MBC (µg mL-1)
SP	3.1 ± 1.1	3.1
NR	3.2 ± 1.7	4.2
CS	3.4 ± 1.3	3.2

Discussion

S.mutans has been considered as the principal microbiological agent in the development of dental caries. The amount of S.mutans naturally in the oral cavity is almost $1 \times 10^{\circ}$ colony-forming units per milliliter of saliva. Thus, a number of methods such as DNA plasmids resistant to S.mutans, vaccines and antibodies have been applied to reduce S.mutans.^{16,17} colonization of Gold nanoparticles have been broadly used in bionanotechnology based on their unique properties and multiple surface functionalities for example the ease of AuNP functionalization as a versatile platform for nanobiological assemblies with antibodies, proteins and oligonucleotides. Additionally, AuNPs serve as platforms for therapeutic agents, with their large surface area allowing a dense presentation of multifunctional moieties. AuNPs have also gained attention for the design and development of innovative tools. 18 biomedical Some critical characteristics of AuNPs such as facility of functionalization, and simple synthesis allowing the release of high drug at infected sites and an ability to penetrate biological membranes which make them promising candidates for the improvement of novel antibacterial agents.^{19,20} Several methods for NP surface synthesis and functionalization with antimicrobial drugs through covalent or noncovalent interactions have been described. such amoxicillin-coated as AuNPs. vancomycin-capped AuNPs, and ampicillinand, streptomycin- conjugated AuNPs. The aforementioned studies are compatible with the application of nanoparticles combined with other antimicrobial effects to decrease intrinsic toxicity of nanoparticles, improve the microbicidal effects, and reduce the probability development of resistance.²¹⁻²³

The current study revealed that the three GNPs presented reasonable MIC and MBC values giving a new perspective for the development of antimicrobial compounds for control of caries especially in children.

the results shown herein Furthermore. demonstrate that variation in the shape and size of the gold nanoparticles do not affect their antimicrobial ability and the color of the solution has no direct association with the antimicrobial property. Although, it is not possible to compare all the MIC/MBC values described in different investigations because of the wide range of initial bacterial concentrations, microbial strains, and culture medium components used. Antibiotics also influence the oral flora and suppress certain categories of microbes. For example, penicillin removes oral bacteria or broadspectrum antibiotics diminish gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria, and so, provide a suitable environment for fungi and yeast to grow as opportunistic agents creating. On the other hand, the rapid spread of resistant bacteria occurring worldwide is endangering the efficacy of antibiotics, which saved millions of lives.²⁴

Early childhood caries management is expensive, and often needs comprehensive treatment for the repair and extraction of teeth at an early age. As young children are not able to cope with widespread methods of treatment, deep sedation or general anesthesia may be necessary.²⁵ Since 1940s using fluorides to prevent dental caries, including fluoride toothpaste, water fluoridation, or professional topical fluoride application, mostly by inhibiting mineral loss from the tooth has been considered as an effective option especially in childhood caries but the multiple pathways to the development of dental caries make it difficult to ascertain the contribution of fluoride ingestion to dental caries inhibition.²⁶ Given that fluoride activity is effective in preventing dental caries in a topical manner so, only topical fluoride products are likely to contribute to the claimed benefits of this chemical. In addition, fluoride exposure has a complex relationship concerning dental caries and may increase the risk of dental caries in children with malnutrition due to decreased calcium and hypoplastic enamel.^{27,28}

Uses of probiotics chewable tablets or supplements containing GNPs also are some feasible options in controlling the caries in children which needs more in-vivo and in vitro studies. These findings lead us to consider that SP, NR and CS materials may be useful for controlling *S.mutans* and therefore caries. Improvement of a carrier to deliver GNPs locally, as well as determining the toxicity in vivo to use GNPs as fluoride alternative in ECC management is suggested for future studies.

Conclusion

Currently. an extensive research in nanotechnology and utilizations its in infectious or contagious diseases have led to the development of antimicrobial nanoparticle formulations that act as an effective bactericidal agent. In present study, we showed the potential application of three gold nanoparticles (SP, NR, and CS) in vitro, to diminish or eradicate S.mutans.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the editors and the anonymous reviewers for insightful suggestions on this study.

How to Cite: Daliri K, Seifi-Shalamzari N, Saeida-Ardekani M, Ekraminasab S, Neamatzadeh H. Application of Golden Nanoparticles against *Streptococcus Mutans* for Prevention of Caries Lesions. World J Peri & Neonatol 2020; 3(2): 56-61. DOI: 10.18502/wjpn.v3i2.6155

References

- 1. Karp JM. Dental surgery under general anesthesia for preschool patients with orofacial clefts. Pediatr Dent 2009; 31(5): 426-31.
- 2. Sheiham A. Dental caries affects body weight, growth and quality of life in pre-school children. Br Dent J 2006; 201(10): 625-6.
- 3. Touger-Decker R, Loveren CV. Sugars and dental caries. Am J Clin Nutr 2003; 78(4): 881S-892S.

- 4. Ojeda-Garcés JC, Oviedo-García E, Salas LA. Streptococcus mutans and dental caries. Rev CES Odont 2013; 26(1): 44-56.
- 5. Valdez RMA, Duque C, Caiaffa KS, Dos Santos VR, de Aguiar Loesch ML, Colombo NH, et al. Genotypic diversity and phenotypic traits of Streptococcus mutans isolates and their relation to severity of early childhood caries. BMC Oral Health 2017; 17(1): 115.
- 6. Ghazal TS, Levy SM, Childers NK, Carter KD, Caplan DJ, Warren JJ, et al. Mutans streptococci and dental caries: A new statistical modeling approach. Caries Res 2018; 52(3): 246-52.
- Chatterjee T, Das SMP. Antimicrobial efficacy of some medicinal plant extract against Streptococcus mutans causing dental caries. J Med Plants Stud 2017; 5(2): 315-7.
- 8. Law V, Seow WK, Townsend G. Factors influencing oral colonization of mutans streptococci in young children. Aust Dent J 2007; 52(2): 93-100.
- Berkowitz RJ. Mutans streptococci: acquisition and transmission. Pediatr Dent 2006; 28(2): 106-9.
- 10. Pintus A, Aragoni MC, Cinellu MA, Maiore L, Isaia F, Lippolis V, et al. [Au (pyb-H)(mnt)]: A novel gold (III) 1, 2-dithiolene cyclometalated complex with antimicrobial activity (pyb-H= Cdeprotonated 2-benzylpyridine; mnt= 1, 2dicyanoethene-1, 2-dithiolate). J Inorg Biochem 2017; 170, 188-94.
- 11. Zhang Y, Peng H, Huang W, Zhou Y, Yan D. Facile preparation and characterization of highly antimicrobial colloid Ag or Au nanoparticles. J Colloid Interface Sci 2008; 325(2): 371-6.
- 12. Ott I. On the medicinal chemistry of gold complexes as anticancer drugs. Coord Chem Rev 2009; 253(11): 1670-81.
- 13. Khan JA, Pillai B, Das TK, Singh Y, Maiti S. Molecular effects of uptake of gold nanoparticles in HeLa cells. Chembiochem 2007; 8(11): 1237-40.
- 14. Chithrani BD, Chan WC. Elucidating the mechanism of cellular uptake and removal of protein-coated gold nanoparticles of different sizes and shapes. Nano Lett 2007; 7(6): 1542-50.
- 15.Isaac G, Renitta RE. Brown Algae mediated synthesis, characterization of gold nano particles using Padina pavonica and their antibacterial activity against human pathogens. Int J PharmTech Res 2015; 8(9): 31-40.
- 16. Ajdić D, McShan WM, McLaughlin RE, Savić G, Chang J, Carson MB, et al. Genome

sequence of Streptococcus mutans UA159, a cariogenic dental pathogen. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002; 99(22): 14434-9.

- 17.Selwitz RH, Ismail AI, Pitts NB. Dental caries. Lancet 2007; 369(9555): 51-9.
- 18.Kennedy LC, Bickford LR, Lewinski NA, Coughlin AJ, Hu Y, et al. A new era for cancer treatment: gold-nanoparticle-mediated thermal therapies. Small 2011; 7(2): 169-83.
- 19. Chen Y, Xianyu Y, Jiang X. Surface modification of gold nanoparticles with small molecules for biochemical analysis. Acc Chem Res 2017; 50(2): 310-9.
- 20. Ahmed S, Ahmad M, Swami BL, Ikram S. A review on plants extract mediated synthesis of silver nanoparticles for antimicrobial applications: a green expertise. J Adv Res 2016; 7(1): 17-28.
- 21. Gupta A, Landis RF, Rotello VM. Nanoparticlebased antimicrobials: surface functionality is critical. F1000Res 2016; 5: F1000.
- 22.Joshi HM, Bhumkar DR, Joshi K, Pokharkar V, Sastry M. Gold nanoparticles as carriers for efficient transmucosal insulin delivery. Langmuir 2006; 22(1): 300-5.
- 23.Shah M, Badwaik V, Kherde Y, Waghwani HK, Modi T, Aguilar ZP, et al. Gold nanoparticles: various methods of synthesis and antibacterial applications. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed) 2014; 19, 1320-44.
- 24.Rossolini GM, Arena F, Pecile P, Pollini S. Update on the antibiotic resistance crisis. Curr Opin Pharmacol 2014; 18: 56-60.
- 25.Hajishengallis E, Parsaei Y, Klein MI, Koo H. Advances in the microbial etiology and pathogenesis of early childhood caries. Mol Oral Microbiol 2017; 32(1): 24-34.
- 26. Tonetti MS, Bottenberg P, Conrads G, Eickholz P, Heasman P, Huysmans MC, et al. Dental caries and periodontal diseases in the ageing population: call to action to protect and enhance oral health and well-being as an essential component of healthy ageing– Consensus report of group 4 of the joint EFP/ORCA workshop on the boundaries between caries and periodontal diseases. J Clin Periodontol 2017; 44(Suppl 18): S135-44.
- 27. da Fonseca MA. Malnutrition and Oral Health in Children. Curr Oral Health Rep 2017; 4(2): 92-6.
- 28. Hujoel PP, Lingström P. Nutrition, dental caries and periodontal disease: a narrative review. J Clin Periodontol 2017; 44(Suppl 18): S79-84.



Original Article

http://wjpn.ssu.ac.ir

Association of +505A>G Polymorphism at TAFI Gene with Recurrent Miscarriage in Iranian Women

Razieh Alivand¹⁺, Fatemeh Abdi²⁺, Mahmood Dehghani-Ashkezari¹⁺, Hossein Neamatzadeh^{2,3}, Sedigheh Ekraminasab^{3,4}

¹ Biology Department, Medical Biotechnology Research Center, Ashkezar Branch, Islamic Azad University, Ashkezar, Yazd, Iran

² Department of Medical Genetics, School of Medicine, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

³ Mother and Newborn Health Research Center, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

⁴ Laboratory Hematology and Blood Banking Department, School of Allied Medical Sciences, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Science, Tehran, Iran

Received: 21 September 2020

Revised: 18 October 2020

Accepted: 12 November 2020

ARTICLE INFO

[†] These authors contributed equally to this work.

Corresponding author: Mahmood Dehghani-Ashkezari

Email: mdashkezary@yahoo.com

Keywords: Recurrent Miscarriage; Abortion; TAFI Gene; Polymorphism

ABSTRACT

Background: Recurrent miscarriage (RM) is one of the major problems of public health globally. The thrombin-activatable fibrinolysis inhibitor (TAFI) gene is a plasma zymogen that regulates both fibrinolysis and inflammation. Genetic variants within TAFI gene are presumed to be associated with development of RM. This case-control study aimed to investigate the association of TAFI +505A>G polymorphism with RM in Iranian women referred to Meybod Genetic Center.

Methods: Fifty women with RM (at least 2 miscarriages) and 50 healthy women with no history of miscarriage or other fertility complications were participated in this study. The TAFI +505A>G polymorphism was genotyped by allele specific PCR (AS-PCR) assay.

Results: The mean age of cases with RM and controls was 27.25 ± 4.31 and 28.42 ± 3.22 years, respectively. The frequency of GG genotype and G allele was 0.00% in patients and controls. There was no significant difference between RM cases and controls in terms of +505A>G genotypes and alleles.

Conclusion: This study results indicated that there was no significant relationship between the TAFI +505A>G polymorphism and RM risk in Iranian women. However, further rigorous, studies with a larger sample size and different ethnicity are necessary to confirm our findings.

Introduction

regnancy loss is characterized as a medically identified pregnancy unintentional ending before 20 weeks or when the fetus weighs lower than 500g and increasing with maternal age.^{1,2} Pregnancy loss is the most current problem of pregnancy, of clinically affecting about 10%-15% pregnancies.³ recognized Moreover. miscarriage can be arranged as embryonic loss (or early miscarriage) when it takes place before 10 gestational weeks and fetal loss (or fetal miscarriage) when it takes place after 10 gestational weeks, because factors related to each may differ.^{1,4} Recurrent pregnancy loss (RPL) is traditionally described as the event of two or more continuous pregnancy losses. RPL is one of the most common fertility complications and the exact prevalence of RPL is difficult to estimate, most studies report that RPL affects 1-5% of women during reproductive ages.^{5,6} It is a condition multifactorial involving the interaction of genetic factors and environmental factors. Today several factors of RPL such as genetic thrombophilia, endocrinological factors, abnormalities in chromosomes, uterine abnormalities. thrombotic tendency, hormone or metabolic disorders have been identified. Moreover, environmental and psychological factors include infection, malefactors, autoimmunity, age, and lifestyle problems.^{7,8} Also RPL can be caused by endocrine, immunological, vascular. and metabolic imbalances.⁵ Although the causes have been studied deeply, more than 50% of cases remain unexplained.^{3,10,11} Several articles provide evidence that genetic factors display а significant element of human fertility.¹²

Thrombophilia is one of the most reasons for RPL. Thrombophilia could be either acquired or inherited. Approximately 40% of cases displaying thrombosis are inherited. variation in the amount or the function of the proteins which are in the coagulation system pathway leads to hereditary thrombophilias.¹³ Hereditary thrombophilia has been displayed to be a risk factor for reproductive diseases including infertility, RPL, and obstetrical complications.¹¹ The balance between coagulation and fibrinolysis is an essential part of early pregnancy.¹⁴ At pregnancy, alterations in the mother's body due to changes in the homeostasis lead to the hypercoagulable state of pregnancy. A hypercoagulable state is described by exceeded levels of prothrombotic factors and reduced antithrombotic factors. Such thrombophilias enhance the prothrombotic condition of resulting insufficient pregnancy, in fetomaternal circulation, and affect the function of placentation in the developing embryo.³ The risk of thrombophilia becomes larger which can reflect many genetic factors like polymorphisms which then affect the coagulation system. Of late, the relation of RPL with maternal thrombophilic or hypofibrinolytic gene variants has collected growing evidence. Many previous studies evaluated polymorphism of several thrombotic genes that had a role in RPL such as prothrombin 20210G/A, FVL 1691G/A, MTHFR 1298A/C, MTHFR 677C/T, and PAI-1 4G/5G polymorphisms and RPL risk in the Iranian population.¹⁵

Thrombin activatable fibrinolysis inhibitor (TAFI) factor, is a basic carboxypeptidase with strong antifibrinolytic and antiinflammatory activity.¹⁶ Practically TAFI is an unstable carboxypeptidase of plasma zymogen which forms a molecular link between coagulation and fibrinolysis.¹⁷ The physiological function of TAFI is to dilute fibrinolysis secondary to activation of plasminogen by tPA into plasmin on the surface of a fibrin clot.¹⁸ The proposal of most studies about TAFI is that increase in TAFI levels takes part in arterial thrombus and venous thrombus formation.¹⁸ Also TAFI has a role in the regulation of early human trophoblastic invasion. Reportedly TAFI levels in the maternal circulation slowly increased during gestation with a peak in the last trimester, especially in complicated pregnancy, and later come back to natural levels after the first day postpartum.¹⁹

In the two decades, the effects of several polymorphisms influencing TAFI level on these thrombotic events have been evaluated. Several applications such as +505A/G SNP and 1040C/T SNP in the programming region and a -438G/A SNP in promoters are associated with plasma antigen levels.¹⁸ Also, multiple kinds of research have shown an association between thrombophilia abnormalities and their correlations to pregnancy loss. Therefore, in our study we investigated the association of TAFI +505A/G polymorphism with RPL in Iranian women.

Materials and Methods

Subjects: All procedures in the study were carried out under the ethical standards of the institutional or national research committee of Ashkzar Branch, Azad University, Ashkzar, Yazd and with the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later modifications or similar ethical standards. The aims of the study were fully explained to all participants and written consent was obtained. A total of 50 women with unexplained RPL before 20 weeks' gestation were included in the study. The control group included 50 healthy women without a history of miscarriage or other fertility complications. All participants were examined by an expert gynecologist and they were checked for chromosomal abnormalities and thrombophilic factors. Both cases and healthy subjects were originally Iranian and were recruited from Meybod Genetics Center, Yazd.

DNA Isolation and Genotyping: Five cc of peripheral blood from peripheral blood of all subjects was collected in EDTA-containing tubes and genomic DNA was isolated using an extraction kit (Rojeh Company's Co., LTD). The quality of DNA samples was evaluated by 0.8% agarose gel electrophoresis and NanoDrop and then stored at -20C (Figure 1 and 2).



Figure 1. The quality of DNA samples was assessed by performing the 0.8% agarose gel electrophoresis

The +505A/G polymorphism at the TAFI gene was genotyped using tetra-primer amplification refractory mutation systempolymerase chain (ARMS-PCR) assay. The primers were designed using Oligo software and NCBI BLAST search engine and synthesized by Fazapjooh Tehran Company (Tehran, Iran). The size of PCR products and primer sequences for each single nucleotide polymorphism are displayed in Table 1.



Figure 2. Assessing the quality of DNA extracted with NanoDrop

The PCR amplification was performed in a total volume of 27 μ L reaction mixture, contain 5 μ L genomic DNA, 10 μ L Master mix 2x, 1 μ L of each primer and 10 μ L sterilized water. The reaction mixtures were denatured at 96°C for 5 min, followed by 36 cycles of 94°C for 50 s, 55°C for 50 s, and 72°C for 1 min, with a final elongation at 72°C for 7 min. The PCR products were separated at 37°C overnight by 1% agarose gel electrophoresis and visualized under UV light (Figure 3).

Table 1. Primer sequences for detection of TAFI +505A/G polymorphism

SNP-ID	Sequence	PCR product size (bp)
	F-5'-CTTCCACATGCAGCTCTGAC-3'	180
	R-5'-ATAGCCCAGTTGAGTCTGACAC-3'	180
185742204	F-5'-GGTTTCTGGAAAAGAACTAG 3'	520
	R-5'-CATATGGCATTTTTGGCCGT-3'	520



Figure 3. Scheme of electrophoresis of the PCR-RSM assay for genotyping of TAFI +505A/Gpolymorphism

Statistical analysis: All Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 19.0 (SPSS Co., Chicago, IL, USA) for Windows. A P < 0.05 was considered to demonstrate statistical significance. The chi-square test was applied to examine the differences between RPL cases and healthy controls in terms of mean age. The distribution of the genotype and allele frequency for the polymorphism between cases and controls was examined by the chi-square test. Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) for the distributions of TAFI +505A/G genotypes was performed in healthy subjects by the chisquare (χ^2) test.

Results

Characteristics of participants: The demographic and clinical features of the participants are given in Table 2. The mean age of patients and control group was 27.25 ± 4.31 and 28.42 ± 3.22 years, respectively. Patients were divided into two groups based on the number of abortions, of which 27 patients (54%) had two abortions, 23(46%) patients had three and more than three recurrent abortions (Table 2). In the control group, they had an average of 2.34 children. In addition, in the group of patients with recurrent miscarriage, 23(46%) cases had familial marriages and 27(54%) cases had non- consanguineous marriages. Patients were also divided based on type of miscarriage. Miscarriage in 24 patients took place before 10 gestational weeks (early miscarriage) and in 26 patients took place after 10 gestational weeks (late miscarriage).

Variables	URPL Cases (n = 50)	Healthy Control (n = 50)	P
Age (year)			
Mean (±SD)	27.25 ± 4.31	28.42 ± 3.22	0.721
Contagious Marriage			
Familial	23	-	
Non familial	27	-	
Number of miscarriage			
2	27	-	
\geq 3	23	-	
Type of miscarriage			
Early(< 10 weeks)	24	-	
Late(> 10 weeks)	26	-	

Table 2.	Characteristics	of cases	with RPL	and health	v controls
					/

SNPs	RPL Cases	(n = 50)	Healthy Contr	Healthy Control (n = 50)				
	Frequency	Percent	Frequency	Percent				
Genotypes								
AA	31	62%	26	52%				
AG	19	38%	24	48%	NA			
GG	0	0	0	0				
Alleles								
А	81	81%	76	76%	NA			
G	19	19%	24	24%				

Table 3. The frequencies of genotypes/alleles of the TAFI +505A/G polymorphism in subjects

Association between TAFI polymorphism and RPL susceptibility: Genotype and allele frequencies of TAFI +505A/G polymorphism were examined in case and control groups. Genotypes frequencies of CC for +505A/G polymorphism in women with an unexplained recurrent miscarriage were not seen. These findings showed that there was no significant difference between case and control groups. Moreover, no significant association was observed in allele frequencies and genotype distributions for +505A/G (Table 3).

Discussion

The connection of RPL with maternal thrombophilic or hypofibrinolytic gene variants has collected developing documents.²⁰ Such thrombophilias enhance the prothrombotic state of pregnancy, lead to insufficient fetomaternal circulation, and influence the action of placentation in the developing embryo.²⁰ It is recommended to investigate polymorphisms of the genes playing roles in thrombophilia in different communities so that approaches for determination and early treatment are suggested. In the two decades, several emerging candidate genes have been reported in association with RPL. One of them is the **TAFI** gene, which is involved in thrombosis.

A previous study evaluated polymorphism of several thrombotic genes that had a role in RPL. In 2018, Kamali et al., in a metaanalysis demonstrated that there is a significant relation between thrombotic genes including FVL 1691G/A,MTHFR 677C/T, MTHFR 1298A/C, Prothromb in 20210G/A, and PAI-1 4G/5G polymorphisms and risk of

population.¹⁵ RPL the Iranian in Chatzidimitriou et al, in a study, evaluated genetic variants at 12 thrombophilicin the Greek population. Their results indicated that ten genetic loci are mainly correlated with an augmented risk of RPL. Remarkablely, FV Leiden. FV HR2. Factor Π prothrombin20210G/A. Factor XIII V34L. bfibrinogen -455G/A, PAI-1 4G/5G, GPIIIa L33P (HPA-1a/b L33P), MTHFR 1298A/C, MTHFR 677C/T, Apo B R3500Q, ACE I/D, and Apo E2/E3/E4 have been incriminated to state mild or more severe thrombotic risks.³

TAFI, as markable anti-fibrinolytic factor, moderate partly the coagulation and fibrinolysis system, which is associated with an expansion incidence of venous thrombosis disorders. TAFI controls both fibrinolysis and inflammation, which both can contribute to RPL occurrence.²¹

There is no report about the association between TAFI polymorphism and miscarriage possible in Iranian women. In this study, we investigated the relationship of +505A/G polymorphism within TAFI gene with susceptibility RPL. Our findings to +505A/G demonstrated that the TAFI polymorphism was not correlated with an increased risk of RPL in Iranian women. Our findings are consistent with previous casecontrol studies among Spanish women. Marti'nez-Zamora et al., evaluated the decreased plasma fibrinolytic potential in cases with recurrent implantation failure after IVF and embryo transfer. Their results did not significant difference in show a the distribution of TAFI polymorphism between IVF and fertile women groups.²² ElDanasori

et al., assessed the TAFI gene polymorphism (TAFI1040C/T) in women with RPL among Egyptian patients. They reported a higher frequency of C allele in the control group and a higher frequency of T allele in the case group with no statistical significance. Their study showed that TAFI 1040C/T could not be counted as a molecular predictive factor for RPL in Egyptians.²³ However, previous studies among European and Egyptian women showed that the polymorphism was associated with RPL risk. Masini et al., assessed the association between TAFI polymorphism and RPL among Italian women. They showed that the +505 and +1583 polymorphisms at TAFI gene were linked with RPL risk. Their results also demonstrated that SNPs directed toward increased circulating TAFI antigen levels are related to a decreased risk of RPL.²⁴ Nelly et al., evaluated the prevalence of VEGF, eNOS and TAFI polymorphisms among Egyptian women with RPL. They showed eNOS genetic variant associated with TAFI 1040C/T confirmed an almost one and half fold increase risk of RPL.¹⁹ Moreover, Pruner et al., assessed R1040 C/T polymorphism in the coding region of TAFI gene and the risk of idiopathic RPL in Serbia. They recognized an enhanced frequency of R1040T/T of TAFI genotype in a patient group, recommending that this genotype could be a potential risk factor for idiopathic RPL.²¹ In our study the prevalence of TAFI polymorphism was not significant and demonstrated that this polymorphism did not happen in any of the patients and control group. Therefore, welldesigned epidemiological studies with a greater sample size and various subgroups are needed.

Conclusion

This study results showed that there was no obvious evidence of association between +505G/A polymorphism at TAFI gene and the risk of RPL in the Iranian women. Further rigorous designed studies with adequate sample size and in different ethnicity are needed to confirm our findings.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the participants for their cooperation in this study.

How to Cite: Alivand R, Abdi F, Dehghani-Ashkezari M, Neamatzadeh H, Ekraminasab S. Association of +505A>G Polymorphism at TAFI Gene with Recurrent Miscarriage in Iranian Women. World J Peri & Neonatol 2020; 3(2): 62-8.

DOI: 10.18502/wjpn.v3i2.6156

References

- 1. El Hachem H, Crepaux V, May-Panloup P, Descamps P, Legendre G, Bouet PE. Recurrent pregnancy loss: Current perspectives. Int J Womens Health 2017; 9: 331-45.
- 2. Pokale YS, Khadke P. Risk of Recurrent Miscarriage in India and the Effect of Paternal Age and Maternal Age. IRA-International J Appl Sci 2016; 3(3): 459-68.
- Chatzidimitriou M, Chatzidimitriou D, Mavridou M, Anetakis C, Chatzopoulou F, Lialiaris T, et al. Thrombophilic gene polymorphisms and recurrent pregnancy loss in Greek women. Int J Lab Hematol 2017; 39(6): 590-5.
- 4. Ewington LJ, Tewary S, Brosens JJ. New insights into the mechanisms underlying recurrent pregnancy loss. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2019; 45(2): 258-65.
- 5. van Dijk MM, Kolte AM, Limpens J, Kirk E, Quenby S, van Wely M, et al. Recurrent pregnancy loss: Diagnostic workup after two or three pregnancy losses? A systematic review of the literature and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update 2020; 26(3): 356-67.
- Bender Atik R, Christiansen OB, Elson J, Kolte AM, Lewis S, Middeldorp S, et al. ESHRE guideline: recurrent pregnancy loss. Hum Reprod Open 2018; 2018(2): hoy004.
- Huang W, Zhou H, Pi L, Xu Y, Fu LY, Yang Y, et al. Association between the rs2288947 polymorphism of the lncRNA TINCR gene and the risk of recurrent miscarriage in a Southern Chinese population. J Clin Lab Anal 2019; 33(6): e22919.

- 8. Najafi K, Mehrjoo Z, Ardalani F, Ghaderi-Sohi S, Kariminejad A, Kariminejad R, et al. Identifying the causes of recurrent pregnancy loss in consanguineous couples using whole exome sequencing on the products of miscarriage with no chromosomal abnormalities. Sci Rep 2021; 11(1): 6952.
- Mohtaram S, Sheikhha MH, Honarvar N, Sazegari A, Maraghechi N, Feizollahi Z, et al. An Association Study of the SLC19A1 Gene Polymorphisms/Haplotypes with Idiopathic Recurrent Pregnancy Loss in an Iranian Population. Genet Test Mol Biomarkers 2016; 20(5): 235-40.
- 10.Liu X, Chen Y, Ye C, Xing D, Wu R, Li F, et al. Hereditary thrombophilia and recurrent pregnancy loss: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Hum Reprod 2021; 36(5): 1213-29.
- 11. Ahangari N, Doosti M, Mousavifar N, Attaran M, Shahrokhzadeh S, Memarpour S, et al. Hereditary thrombophilia genetic variants in recurrent pregnancy loss. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2019; 300(3): 777-82.
- 12.Corbo RM, Ulizzi L, Piombo L, Scacchi R. Association of ACE I/D polymorphism and recurrent miscarriages in an Italian population with a pre-modern reproductive pattern. Ann Hum Biol 2011; 38(1): 102-5.
- 13.Bigdeli R, Younesi MR, Panahnejad E, Asgary V, Heidarzadeh S, Mazaheri H, et al. Association between thrombophilia gene polymorphisms and recurrent pregnancy loss risk in the Iranian population. Syst Biol Reprod Med 2018; 64(4): 274-82.
- 14. Hwang KR, Choi YM, Kim JJ, Lee SK, Yang KM, Paik EC, et al. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase polymorphisms and risk of recurrent pregnancy loss: A case-control study. J Korean Med Sci 2017; 32(12): 2029-34.
- 15.Kamali M, Hantoushzadeh S, Borna S, Neamatzadeh H, Mazaheri M, Noori-Shadkam M, et al. Association between thrombophilic genes polymorphisms and recurrent pregnancy loss susceptibility in the iranian population: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Iran Biomed J 2018; 22(2): 78-89.
- 16.Colucci M, Semeraro N. Thrombin activatable fibrinolysis inhibitor: At the nexus of

fibrinolysis and inflammation. Thromb Res 2012; 129(3): 314-9.

- 17.Sillen M, Declerck PJ. Thrombin activatable fibrinolysis inhibitor (TAFI): An updated narrative review. Int J Mol Sci 2021; 22(7): 3670.
- 18. Tokgoz S, Zamani AG, Durakbasi-Dursun HG, Yılmaz O, Ilhan N, Demirel S, et al. TAFI gene polymorphisms in patients with cerebral venous thrombosis. Acta Neurol Belg 2013; 113(3): 291-7.
- 19. Abulata NN, Shaheen IA, Osman OM, Hussein AM, El-Khayat WM. The prevalence of combined vascular endothelial growth factor, endothelial nitric oxide synthase and thrombinactivatable fibrinolysis inhibitor genetic polymorphisms among Egyptian patients with recurrent spontaneous abortion. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2019; 45(6): 1106-13.
- 20. Khidri FF, Waryah YM, Ali FK, Shaikh H, Ujjan ID, Waryah AM. MTHFR and F5 genetic variations have association with preeclampsia in Pakistani patients: A case control study. BMC Med Genet 2019; 20(1): 1-12.
- 21.Pruner I, Djordjevic V, Miljic P, Kovac M, Antonijevic N, Rakicevic L, et al. +1040 C/T polymorphism in coding region of thrombinactivatable fibrinolysis inhibitor gene and the risk of idiopathic recurrent fetal loss. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 2010; 21(7): 679-82.
- 22.Martnez-Zamora MA, Creus M, Tassies D, Reverter JC, Civico S, Carmona F, et al. Reduced plasma fibrinolytic potential in patients with recurrent implantation failure after IVF and embryo transfer. Hum Reprod 2011; 26(3): 510-6.
- 23.ElDanasori N, Abulata N, Shaheen IA, ElGendy AM, El-Khayat W. Thrombin-Activatable Fibrinolysis Inhibitor Gene Polymorphism (TAFI1040C/T) in Women With Recurrent Spontaneous Abortion. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost 2018; 24(3):532-5.
- 24. Masini S, Ticconi C, Gravina P, Tomassini M, Pietropolli A, Forte V, et al. Thrombinactivatable fibrinolysis inhibitor polymorphisms and recurrent pregnancy loss. Fertil Steril 2009; 92(2): 694-702.



Original Article

http://wjpn.ssu.ac.ir

A Meta-Analysis for Association of ACE I/D Polymorphism with Susceptibility to Preterm Birth

Reza Bahrami¹, Seyed Alireza Dastgheib^{2*}, Hossein Golestanpour³, Elahe Akbarian⁴, Alireza Emarati⁴, Mohammad Jafari-Nedooshan⁵, Hossein Neamatzadeh^{6,7}

¹Neonatal Research Center, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

²Department of Medical Genetics, School of Medicine, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

³Department of Genetics, Marvdasht Branch, Azad University, Marvdasht, Iran

⁴Children Growth Disorder Research Center, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

⁵Shahid Rahnamoun Hospital, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

⁶Department of Medical Genetics, School of Medicine, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran ⁷Mother and Newborn Health Research Center, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

Received: 15 March 2021

Revised: 06 April 2021

Accepted: 01 May 2021

ARTICLE INFO

Corresponding author: Seyed Alireza Dastgheib **Email:** dastgheibsa@gmail.com

Keywords:

Preterm Birth; Delivery; ACE; Polymorphism; Meta-Analysis ABSTRACT

Background: Preterm birth is one of the main contributors to newborn mortality, morbidity, and hospitalization in the first year of life globally. To date, several numbers of studies have reported that Angiotensin-Converting enzyme Insertion/Deletion polymorphism (ACE I/D) is linked with preterm birth. But those results are conflicting. Thus, we carried out this metaanalysis to summarize the existing data and evaluated the association.

Methods: All eligible studies were collected from PubMed, Scopus, SciELO, MedRxiv, SID, China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI), and Chinese Biomedical Literature Database (CBLD) up to 01 March 2021. The pooled odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence interval (CIs) under all five genetic models were calculated using either random-effects or fixed-effects models dependent on study heterogeneity.

Results: A total of five case-control studies with 480 preterm birth cases and 702 healthy subjects were included. Pooled data showed that the ACE I/D polymorphism was significantly associated with increased risk of preterm birth under the allele model (I vs. D: OR = 1.219, 95% CI 1.023-1.453, P = 0.027), homozygote model (II vs. DD: OR = 0.662, 95% CI 1.149-2.385, P = 0.007), and recessive model (DD vs. DI+II: OR = 0.707, 95% CI 1.082-1.948, P = 0.013). Stratified analysis by ethnicity indicated that the ACE I/D polymorphism was significantly associated with preterm birth in Caucasian descendants.

Conclusion: Our pooled data revealed that ACE I/D polymorphism is associated with the risk of preterm birth. However, larger and more rigorous studies among different populations are needed to evaluate the association with preterm birth.

Introduction

reterm birth or preterm delivery is described as birth before 37 weeks of gestation, which remains a crucial issue in long-term morbidity and mortality in children less than 5 years of age.^{1,2} More than 40% of preterm birth cases are occurred spontaneously rather than medically indicated ^{3, 4}. Despite advances in medicine, the rate of preterm birth is increasing globally.⁵ In the United States and Europe, preterm birth occurs in 12-15% and 5-9% of pregnancies, respectively.⁵⁻⁷ To date, several risk factors been identified. However. have our knowledge to predict the occurrence of preterm birth is limited.^{7,8} The leading risk factor for preterm birth is a personal or family history ⁹. Moreover, several lines of evidence have confirmed that genetic susceptibility is a predictor of preterm birth.⁹⁻¹¹ The risk of preterm delivery in mothers who have a mother or a sister with a history of preterm birth is higher than general population.^{10,12} According to the previous studies in different populations the role of maternal genetic in preterm birth is between 15-40% for the maternal genetic contribution.¹³ Moreover, environmental factors, as well as genetic predictors, contribute to preterm birth. This has led some to look for gene-environment interaction such as associations between candidate genes involved in metabolic detoxification and exposure to pollutants and xenobiotics (such as air pollution, sulfur dioxide, bisphenol A, agricultural pesticides, and herbicides), low choline intake during pregnancy, coffee consumption and maternal smoking.4, 13-15

Several molecular studies have been conducted to evaluate the association of genetic variants at progesterone receptor (PGR), Oxytocin (OXT), Oxytocin receptor (OXTR), Relaxin 2 (RLN2), follicle stimulating hormone receptor (FSHR), insulin-like growth factor receptor (IGF1R) and prostaglandin E receptor 3 (PTGER3) genes with preterm birth.¹⁵ Among them, the role of the angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) gene has been evaluated by several epidemiological studies. This gene is a member of the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) or the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) which is involved in catalyzing the conversion of angiotensin I into physiologically active peptide angiotensin II.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ The Human ACE gene is mapped on chromosomes 17q23.3, contains 26 exons, 21 kb. То and spans date. several polymorphisms at ACE gene such as 240A > T, 2350G > A, 17888C > T and ACE I/D have been identified in association with diseases.¹⁹ different The ACE insertion/deletion (I/D) polymorphism is a nonsense and 287 bp Alu repeat sequence of DNA in the intron 16 of ACE gene.²⁰⁻²³ Some studies have examined the relation between ACE I/D polymorphism and preterm birth. But, the results are inconsistent and inconclusive that might be due to small sample size of recruited subjects. Thus, we conducted this meta-analysis by including all eligible studies to evaluate the association of ACE I/D polymorphism with preterm birth risk globally.

Materials and Methods

Publication Search: А comprehensive based literature search computerwas performed on PubMed, Web of Knowledge, Web Science, Scopus, MedRxiv. of EMBASE. Scientific Information Database (SID), WanFang, VIP, Chinese Biomedical Database (CBD), Scientific Electronic Library Online (SciELO), VIP, Chinese literature (Wan Fang), China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI), China Science and Technology Journal database and Egyptian Knowledge Bank (EKB) database for finding relevant studies on ACE I/D all polymorphism and preterm birth until 01 March 2021. The following terms and keywords were used in various combinations to search: ("Preterm Birth" OR "Preterm Delivery'' OR '' Spontaneous Preterm Birth") AND ("Angiotensin Converting Enzyme'' OR "ACE" OR "insertion/deletion" ''I/D'' OR OR "rs4646994") ("Gene" AND OR "Allele" "Genotype" OR OR "Polymorphism" OR " Single nucleotide polymorphisms" OR "SNPs" OR "Variant" OR "Variation" OR "Mutation"). The search was carried out in English and Chinese. Moreover, the reference lists of the retrieved articles were checked to identify more potential studies missed during the online search.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria: The following criteria were applied for study selection: 1) case-control or cohort studies; 2) studies evaluated the association of the ACE I/D polymorphism with preterm birth risk; 3) studies with sufficient data for estimating an odds ratio (OR) with 95% confidence interval (CI). The studies with the following characteristics were excluded: 1) studies on animals; 2) case only studies; 3) studies with insufficient available data or lacking genotypes distribution data; 4) family based studies and linkage studies; 5) case reports, abstracts, letters to the editor, comments, conference abstracts, editorials, reviews, meta-analysis; and 6) published studies containing duplicate data. If there was overlapping data on the same cases included in more than one publication, only the one with the larger sample size or newly published was included in the pooling data.

Data extraction: Data was carefully extracted from all the eligible studies by two authors independently based on selection criteria. Titles and abstracts of these articles were also screened for relevance by two authors to determine which articles were to undergo full-text review. The following data were collected from each study: first author name, year of publication, country of origin, ethnicity, genotyping methods, numbers of cases and controls, genotype frequency of cases and controls, minor allele frequency (MAF) and Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) in controls, and Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for quality assessment of the study. If chosen articles did not report necessary data, the corresponding authors were contacted by email to request the missing data.

Assessment of study quality: The quality of the selected studies was determined by the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS). NOS has consisted of three parts including a selection of participants (four items), comparability of cases, and control groups (two items), and adequacy of Outcome (three items). It evaluated studies with a star-rating system ranging from zero to nine stars, in which the score \geq 7 were expressed as high quality and \leq 7 represent low or moderate quality (high or moderate risk of bias).

Statistical Analysis: The association of ACE I/D polymorphism and the preterm birth risk was evaluated by calculating the odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence interval (95% CI). The significance of the pooled OR was evaluated by the Z-test. The pooled ORs were performed under five genetic models, i.e., allele (D vs. I), homozygote (DI vs. II), heterozygote (DD vs. II), dominant (DD+DI vs. II) and recessive model (DD vs. DI+II), respectively. A Chi-square-based Q-test was performed to evaluate the heterogeneity between these studies. The Chi-square test was used to evaluate the HWE of ACE I/D polymorphism distribution in the healthy subjects. A Cochran's Q-test was carried out to examine between- study heterogeneity and was considered significant when P < 0.10. Moreover, I^2 value was used for heterogeneity validation as well. The test of heterogeneity using I^2 statistics was as following: $I^2 = 0.25\%$, no heterogeneity; $I^2 = 25-50\%$, moderate heterogeneity; $I^2=50-75\%$, large heterogeneity; $I^2 = 75-100\%$, extreme heterogeneity. The pooled data in the fixed effect model (Mantel-Haenszel method) were selected when no significant between-study heterogeneity existed; otherwise, the random-effects model (DerSimonian-Laird method) was used.²⁴⁻²⁷ A sensitivity analysis performed by the leaveone-out method to examine the effect of a single study on pooled ORs. The funnel plot was used to assess the publication bias. The asymmetry of the funnel plot was evaluated by Egger's test. The HWE was tested by Fisher's exact test. All of the statistical calculations were performed using comprehensive meta-analysis (CMA) software version 2.0 (Biostat, USA). Two-sided P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Characteristics of the Studies: As shown in

Figure 1, our initial search yielded 205 studies, and 131 were remained after removing duplicates. Following the inclusion- exclusion criteria, 126 studies were excluded. Finally, a total of five case-control studies ²⁸⁻³² with 480 preterm birth cases and 702 healthy subjects were selected. Table 1 shows a summary of the characteristics of all eligible studies. The selected studies were published between 2004 and 2020.



PRISMA 2009 Flow Diagram



Figure 1. Flow chart for the process of selecting eligible studies

Finat	Country	Constrains	-	_	Pret	erm-	Birtl	h	-	C	ontr	ols		-		-
FIISt outhor/Vear	(Ethnicity)	Methods	Case/Control	Ge	enoty	pes	All	eles	Ge	enoty	pes	Alle	eles	MAFs	HWE	NOS
aution/ 1 car	(Etimetry)	Wiethous		Π	ID	DD	Ι	D	Π	ID	DD	Ι	D			
Lee 2019	Korea (Asian)	PCR	111/143	50	43	18	143	79	50	75	18	175	111	0.388	0.212	6
Hocevar 2018	Slovenia (Caucasian)	PCR	217/316	34	113	70	181	253	37	78	43	152	164	0.519	0.887	7
Uvuz 2009	Turkey (Caucasian)	PCR	50/50	15	21	14	51	49	19	26	5	64	36	0.360	0.363	6
Uma 2008	UK (Caucasian)	PCR	17/113	4	9	4	17	17	23	64	26	110	116	0.513	0.155	6
Valdez 2004	Mexico (Mixed)	Sequencing	85/238	16	44	25	76	94	66	123	49	255	221	0.464	0.548	6

Table 1. Characteristics of the studies included in the meta-analysis

MAFs: Minor Allele Frequencies; HWE: Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium; NOS: Newcastle-Ottawa Scale

The studies have been carried out in Korea, Slovenia, turkey, England, and Mexico. In terms of ethnicity, three studies were performed among Caucasian descendants, one study among mixed population, and one study was performed among Arian descendants. Two genotyping methods including PCR and direct sequencing were used to genotype the polymorphism. The genotypes and minor allele frequency (MAF) distributions of ACE I/D polymorphism in cases and controls were presented in Table 1. Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) was calculated for all eight publications and P < 0.05 was considered as a departure from HWE (Table 1). The NOS score of eligible articles ranged from 6 to 7, which showed that all included studies were of high quality (Table 1).

Quantitative Data Synthesis: The summary for the association of ACE I/D polymorphism with preterm birth risk are shown in Table 2. The combined data showed that the ACE I/D polymorphism was significantly associated with increased risk of preterm birth under the allele model (I vs. D: OR = 1.219, 95% CI 1.023-1.453, P = 0.027, Figure 2A), homozygote model (II vs. DD: OR = 0.662, 95% CI 1.149-2.385, P = 0.007, Figure 2B), and the recessive model (DD vs. DI+II: OR = 0.707, 95% CI 1.082-1.948, P = 0.013, Figure 2C) in overall population. Furthermore, stratified analysis by ethnicity showed that the ACE I/D polymorphism was significantly associated with preterm birth in Caucasian descendants under

the allele model (I vs. D: OR = 1.316, 95% CI 1.031-1.680, P = 0.027) and the homozygote model (II vs. DD: OR = 1.842, 95% CI 1.109-3.060, P = 0.018).



Figure 2: Forest plot for association between ACE I/D polymorphism and preterm birth risk. A: allele model (A vs. T); B: homozygote model (DD vs. II); and C: recessive model (DD vs. DI+II)

Test of heterogeneity: The heterogeneity in overall population and by stratified analyses is presented in Table 2. In this study, there was no significant between-study heterogeneity under all five genetic models in the overall population. Therefore, the fixed effect model (Mantel-Haenszel method) was selected to report the ORs for the association.

Subgroup	Genetic	Type of	Heterogeneity			Odds Ratio	OR)		Publicat	ion Bias
Subgroup	Model	Model	$I^{2}(\%)$	P _H	OR	95% CI	ZOR	POR	P _{Beggs}	P _{Eggers}
Overall	D vs. I	Fixed	33.94	0.196	1.219	1.023-1.453	2.215	0.027	1.000	0.960
	DI vs. II	Fixed	50.77	0.087	1.042	0.771-1.409	0.270	0.787	0.806	0.958
	DD vs. II	Fixed	7.158	0.366	1.655	1.149-2.385	2.704	0.007	1.000	0.971
	DD+DI vs. II	Fixed	52.41	0.078	1.170	0.880-1.555	1.082	0.279	0.806	0.943
	DD vs. DI+II	Fixed	0.00	0.522	1.452	1.082-1.948	2.485	0.013	0.806	0.495
Ethnicity										
Caucasian	D vs. I	Fixed	0.00	0.445	1.316	1.031-1.680	2.205	0.027	1.000	0.928
	DI vs. II	Fixed	0.00	0.524	1.311	0.846-2.031	1.213	0.225	0.296	0.117
	DD vs. II	Fixed	1.920	0.361	1.842	1.109-3.060	2.360	0.018	0.311	0.211
	DD+DI vs. II	Fixed	0.00	0.594	1.467	0.970-2.220	1.816	0.069	0.202	0.296
	DD vs. DI+II	Fixed	33.97	0.220	1.414	0.953-2.099	1.720	0.085	1.000	0.683

Table 2. Summary risk estimates for association of the ACE I/D polymorphism with preterm birth risk

NA: Not Applicable

Sensitivity analysis: A sensitivity analysis is necessary to explore the impact of different decisions on pooled ORs. We carried out a sensitivity analysis to assess the effect of individual study by excluding a single study in turn on pooled data. The results showed that no individual study had an influence on the pooled OR for association of ACE I/D polymorphism with preterm birth, suggesting the stability of our conclusions.

Publication bias: Begg's funnel plot and Egger's test were used to assess the potential publication bias for included studies on ACE I/D polymorphism with preterm birth. The Egger's test results under all five genetic models are presented in Table 2. The Egger's test and Begg's funnel did not statistically revealed a significant publication bias in any of the models for ACE I/D polymorphism association with preterm birth (Figure 3).



Figure 3: The funnel plots of publication bias for association of ACE I/D polymorphism and preterm birth risk. A: allele (D vs. I); B: homozygote (DI vs. II); C: heterozygote (DD vs. II); D: dominant (DD+DI vs. II) and E: recessive model (DD vs. DI+II)

Discussion

In 2004, Valdez et al., for first time assessed the association of ACE I/D polymorphism with preterm birth risk. They have evaluated the association in 86 women with preterm birth and a control group of adults from Guadalajara, Mexico. The study reported significant differences in the frequency of ACE I/D between women who had a history of preterm birth and healthy subjects.³² Since then, a few studies evaluated the association of ACE I/D polymorphism with preterm birth risk in limited populations.

Here, we carried out a meta-analysis to assess the association of the ACE I/D polymorphisms with preterm birth risk. In meta-analysis a total of five case-control studies with 480 preterm birth cases and 702 healthy subjects were included. The combined data showed that the ACE I/D polymorphism was significantly associated with increased risk of preterm birth under the allele model (I vs. D: OR = 1.219, 95% CI 1.023-1.453, P = 0.027, homozygote model (II vs. DD: OR = 0.662, 95% CI 1.149-2.385, P = 0.007), and the heterozygote model (ID vs. DD: OR = 0.707, 95% CI 1.082-1.948, P = 0.013) in overall population. Lee et al., in a case-control study and meta-analysis evaluated the association of the ACE I/D polymorphism with preterm birth risk. They evaluated 111 patients with preterm birth and 143 women at \geq 38 week's gestation as controls in the Korean population. Their casecontrol study revealed that the ACE I/D polymorphism was significantly associated with preterm birth and that the ID genotype of ACE I/D polymorphism has a protective effect for preterm birth. Similarly, their pooled data revealed that the ACE ID genotype has a significant association with preterm birth and is a protective factor for the disease.²⁸ Moreover, Hočevar et al., in another case-control study and meta-analysis evaluated the association of the ACE I/D polymorphism with preterm birth risk. Their case-control study included 217 women with

a history of preterm birth and 158 women full-term pregnancy Serbian with in population. Their case-control study did not show a significant association of ACE I/D polymorphism with preterm birth. However, their pooled ORs indicated that ACE I/D polymorphism was associated with preterm birth under three genetic models including allele (D vs. I: OR = 1.35, 95% CI = 1.11-1.65, P = 0.0033), dominant (DD + ID vs. II: OR = 1.52, 95% CI = 1.08-2.15, P = 0.0161) and recessive (DD vs. ID + II: OR = 1.48, 95% CI = 1.07-2.04, P = 0.0184).²⁹

Some limitations of this meta-analysis should be considered. First, the number of included studies to evaluate the association of ACE I/D polymorphism with risk of preterm birth was not large enough to generate meaningful results, which pooled results based on restricted studies that lack sufficient power to support or deny an association. Second, in this meta-analysis, there were included limited studies by ethnicity. Thus, discrepancy of the associations in the different ethnicities should be interpreted Third, the strength of the cautiously. association was measured by unadjusted ORs for confounding factors such as age, gestational age, and environmental factors due to the lack of primary data, which might have affected our results. Finally, preterm birth multifactorial disease is а and interactions between genetic and environmental factors might affect the development of this disease. In the current meta-analysis. gene-gene and geneenvironment interactions were not evaluated due to the limited availability of such data.

Conclusion

Considering all the findings, this metaanalysis indicated that the ACE I/D polymorphism is associated with an increased risk of preterm birth in overall population. Our pooled data may help understand the role and mechanism of the ACE gene in development of preterm birth. However, larger and more rigorous studies among different ethnicities are needed to evaluate the association of ACE I/D polymorphism with preterm birth.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the editors and the anonymous reviewers for insightful suggestions on this study.

How to Cite: Bahrami R, Dastgheib SA, Golestanpour H,Akbarian E, Emarati A, Jafari-Nedooshan M, et al., A Meta-Analysis for an Association of ACE I/D Polymorphism with Susceptibility to Preterm Birth. World J Peri & Neonatol 2020; 3(2): 69-77. DOI: 10.18502/wjpn.v3i2.6157

References

- Muniro Z, Tarimo CS, Mahande MJ, Maro E, McHome B. Grand multiparity as a predictor of adverse pregnancy outcome among women who delivered at a tertiary hospital in Northern Tanzania. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth 2019; 19(1): 222.
- 2. McCormick MC. The contribution of low birth weight to infant mortality and childhood morbidity. N Engl J Med 1985; 312(2): 82-90.
- 3. Javaheri A, Khajehnoori S, Foroughi E, Nasiri R, Farahnak S, Tabatabaei RS, et al. Association of MTHFR A1298C polymorphism with preterm birth: A meta-analysis. World J Peri & Neonatol 2018; 1(1): 1-6.
- 4. Strauss JF, Romero R, Gomez-Lopez N, Haymond-Thornburg H, Modi BP, Teves ME, et al. Spontaneous preterm birth: advances toward the discovery of genetic predisposition. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2018; 218(3): 294-314.
- 5. Chang YK, Tseng YT, Chen KT. The epidemiologic characteristics and associated risk factors of preterm birth from 2004 to 2013 in Taiwan. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2020; 20(1): 201.
- Goldenberg RL, Culhane JF, Iams JD, Romero R. Epidemiology and causes of preterm birth. Lancet 2008; 371(9606): 75-84.
- 7. Meertens LJE, van Montfort P, Scheepers HCJ, van Kuijk SMJ, Aardenburg R, Langenveld J, et al. Prediction models for the

risk of spontaneous preterm birth based on maternal characteristics: a systematic review and independent external validation. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2018; 97(8): 907-20.

- 8. Georgiou HM, Di Quinzio MKW, Permezel M, Brennecke SP. Predicting preterm labour: Current status and future prospects. Dis Markers 2015; 2015: 435014.
- 9. Varner MW, Esplin MS. Current understanding of genetic factors in preterm birth. BJOG. BJOG 2005; 112(Suppl 1): 28-31.
- 10.Koire A, Chu DM, Aagaard K. Family history is a predictor of current preterm birth. Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM 2021; 3(1): 100277.
- 11. Zhang G, Srivastava A, Bacelis J, Juodakis J, Jacobsson B, Muglia LJ. Genetic studies of gestational duration and preterm birth. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 2018; 52: 33-47.
- 12.Sherf Y, Sheiner E, Vardi IS, Sergienko R, Klein J, Bilenko N. Recurrence of preterm delivery in women with a family history of preterm delivery. Am J Perinatol 2017; 34(4): 397-402.
- 13. Wadon M, Modi N, Wong HS, Thapar A, O'Donovan MC. Recent advances in the genetics of preterm birth. Ann Hum Genet 2020; 84(3): 205-13.
- 14.Zhu J, Liu YH, He XL, Kohlmeier M, Zhou LL, Shen LW, et al. Dietary choline intake during pregnancy and PEMT rs7946 polymorphism on risk of preterm birth: A case-control study. Ann Nutr Metab 2020; 76(6): 431-40.
- 15.Sheikh IA, Ahmad E, Jamal MS, Rehan M, Assidi M, Tayubi IA, et al. Spontaneous preterm birth and single nucleotide gene polymorphisms: A recent update. BMC Genomics 2016; 17(Suppl 9): 759.
- 16. Fagyas M, Úri K, Siket IM, Daragó A, Boczán J, Bányai E, et al. New perspectives in the reninangiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) I: endogenous angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibition. PLoS One 2014; 9(4): e87843.
- 17. Gohari M, Dastgheib SA, Noorishadkam M, Lookzadeh MH, Mirjalili SR, Akbarian-Bafghi MJ, et al. Association of eNOS and ACE polymorphisms with retinopathy of prematurity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Fetal Pediatr Pathol 2020; 39(4): 334-45.
- 18.Jarahzadeh MH, Jafari M, Seifi-Shalamzari N, Ferdosian F, Bahrami R, Raee-Ezzabadi A, et al. Association of PAI-1 4G/5G and ACE I/D polymorphisms with susceptibility to

pediatric sepsis: Evidence from a metaanalysis. Fetal Pediatr Pathol 2020; 14: 1-17.

- 19. Sayed-Tabatabaei FA, Oostra BA, Isaacs A, van Duijn CM, Witteman JCM. ACE polymorphisms. Circ Res 2006; 98(9): 1123-33.
- 20.Mahjoub SA, Abdelrhman E, El-Deen MEM, Mustafa MSE, Ali EW. Angiotensinconverting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism is not associated with vasoocclusive complications of sickle cell anemia. I Int J Appl Basic Med Res 2016; 6(4): 267-70.
- 21.Moghimi M, Kargar S, Jafari MA, Ahrar H, Jarahzadeh MH, Neamatzadeh H, et al. Angiotensin converting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism is associated with breast cancer risk: A meta-analysis. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2018; 19(11): 3225-31.
- 22. Aslbahar F, Neamatzadeh H, Tabatabaiee R, Karimi-Zarchi M, Javaheri A, Mazaheri M, et al. Association of angiotensin-converting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism with recurrent pregnancy loss: a meta-analysis of 26 case-control studies. Rev Bras Ginecol Obstet 2018; 40(10): 631-41.
- 23.Dastgheib SA, Asadian F, Farbod M, Karimi-Zarchi M, Meibodi B, Akbarian E, et al. Association of ACE I/D, -240A > T and AT1R A1166C polymorphisms with susceptibility to breast cancer: a systematic review and metaanalysis based on 35 case-control studies. Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleic Acids 2021; 40(1): 117-35.
- 24. Jarahzadeh MH, Jafari M, Seifi-Shalamzari N, Ferdosian F, Bahrami R, Raee-Ezzabadi A, et al. Association of PAI-1 4G/5G and ACE I/D polymorphisms with susceptibility to pediatric sepsis: Evidence from a meta-analysis. Fetal Pediatr Pathol 2020: 14: 1-17.
- 25. Aarafi H, Yadegari A, Dastgheib SA, Bahrami R, Shajari A, Nafei Z, et al. Association of +1923C > T, -1112C > T and +2044A > G polymorphisms in IL-13 gene with susceptibility to pediatric asthma: A

systematic review and meta-analysis. Fetal Pediatr Pathol 2020: 1-19.

- 26.Ferdosian F, Dastgheib SA, Hosseini-Jangjou SH, Nafei Z, Lookzadeh MH, Noorishadkam M, et al. Association of TNF-α rs1800629, CASP3 rs72689236 and FCGR2A rs1801274 polymorphisms with susceptibility to Kawasaki disease: A comprehensive metaanalysis. Fetal Pediatr Pathol 2019: 1-17.
- 27.Ferdosian F, Jarahzadeh MH, Bahrami R, Nafei Z, Jafari M, Raee-Ezzabadi A, et al. Association of IL-6 -174G > C polymorphism with susceptibility to childhood sepsis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Fetal Pediatr Pathol 2020; 1-15.
- 28.Lee NR, Hwang IW, Kim HJ, Kang YD, Park JW, Jin HJ. Genetic association of angiotensinconverting enzyme (ACE) gene I/D polymorphism with preterm birth in Korean women: Case-control study and meta-analysis. Medicina (Lithuania) 2019; 55(6): 264.
- 29. Hočevar K, Peterlin A, Jovanović AM, Božović A, Ristanović M, Tul N, et al. Association between angiotensin-converting enzyme gene insertion/deletion polymorphism and susceptibility to preterm birth: A casecontrol study and meta-analysis. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2018; 231: 122-8.
- 30. Uvuz F, Kilic S, Yilmaz N, Tuncay G, Cakar E, Yuksel B, et al. Relationship between preterm labor and thrombophilic gene polymorphism: A prospective sequential cohort study. Gynecol Obstet Invest 2009; 68(4): 234-8.
- 31.Uma R, Forsyth JS, Struthers AD, Fraser CG, Godfrey V, Murphy DJ. Correlation of angiotensin converting enzyme activity and the genotypes of the I/D polymorphism in the ACE gene with preterm birth and birth weight. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2008; 141(1): 27-30.
- 32. Valdez LL, Quintero A, Garcia E, Olivares N, Celis A, Rivas F, et al. Thrombophilic polymorphisms in preterm delivery. Blood Cells Mol Dis 2004; 33(1): 51-6.

Scientific Review

http://wjpn.ssu.ac.ir

Immune and Non-Immune Etiology of Thrombocytopenia: Neonatal and Maternal Causes

Mohamad Hosein Lookzadeh¹, Seyed Reza Mirjalili¹, Sedigheh Ekraminasab^{1,2*}

¹ Mother and Newborn Health Research Center, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran
² Laboratory Hematology and Blood Banking Department, School of Allied Medical Sciences, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Received: 27 September 2020

Revised: 18 October 2020

Accepted: 14 November 2020

ARTICLE INFO

Corresponding author: Sedigheh Ekraminasab

Email: s.ekraminasab@gmail.com

Keywords:

Neonatal; Immune Thrombocytopenia; Gestational Thrombocytopenia; Immune; Non-Immune; Etiology

ABSTRACT

Neonatal thrombocytopenia (NT) is a common hemostatic abnormalitiy among newborn in the NICU, which increases with the degree of prematurity. It is well documented that this disease has a large range of feasible etiologies. Prematurity, early and late-onset sepsis and asphyxia are the most usual causes of NT. Moreover, FNAIT is the major risk for intracranial hemorrhage in the fetus or newborn. Here, we reviewed the causes for NT, in both newborns and mothers. We demonstrated the factors associated with NT in the newborn including placental insufficiency, fetal and neonatal alloimmune thrombocytopenia (FNAIT), prematurity, sepsis, and asphyxia. The causes of thrombocytopenia in pregnant women and its impact on newborns were also described. This review showed that gestational thrombocytopenia was the most common cause of thrombocytopenia with an incidence of 70-80%, followed by preeclampsia, HELLP and ITP. But neonates born to mothers with immune thrombocytopenia (ITP) had a higher risk for NT and hemorrhagic problems. In ITP, neonatal platelets are destroyed by maternal autoantibodies. We reviewed the causes of thrombocytopenia in neonates and mothers in two groups of immune and nonimmune factors. However, it seems that immunological factors are the most severe form of NT. However, it is necessary to separate NT etiology for differential diagnosis.

Vol. 3, No. 2, Fall 2020

Introduction

hrombocytopenia is a condition that platelet count less than 150×10^3 /L. it is one of the most common hemostatic abnormalities among newborns, particularly premature infants.^{1,2} It affects 18-35% of neonates referred into neonatal intensive care units (NICU) and may lead to a high risk of hemorrhage and fatality.^{2,3} Many studies demonstrated that the possibility of enhancing thrombocytopenia increases with the level of prematurity, that immature neonates were at a 2.52-fold increased risk for thrombocytopenia.4 The etiology of and thrombocytopenia is complex both maternal and newborn factors may be implied the development of it. Generally, in Thrombocytopenia may be the only clinical apparition of alloimmune condition or an expression of other diseases, such as intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR), sepsis, or necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC). NEC is inflammatory bowel necrosis of premature infants.5,6

Neonatal thrombocytopenia (NT) is a common clinical issue, which enhances with the degree of prematurity. The basic causes of NT are now becoming distinct and many opinions have newly been shown to have small or no evidence to support them. We described thrombocytopenia in neonate and its etiology. Previous studies demonstrated that prematurity, placental insufficiency, sepsis, abnormal immunity, and asphyxia were the most common neonatal conditions related with NT.⁷ In an otherwise healthyappearing infant, thrombocytopenia is most probably secondary to placental inadequacy or an immune process, either autoimmune or alloimmune, in which maternal antibodies transmitted to the newborn in-utero cause the destruction of the infant's platelets.⁸

Several studies have evaluated the prevalence of thrombocytopenia during pregnancy, its etiology, and maternal and perinatal outcome. Pregnancy thrombocytopenia is a usual finding and occurs approximately in 7-10% of pregnancies. Gestational thrombocytopenia (GT). hypertensive disorders (preeclampsia; eclampsia; HELLP syndrome; and acute fatty liver of pregnancy), disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC), consumption of drugs and vitamin B12 or folate deficiency, are the nonimmune reasons.^{9,10} Overall, about 3-4% of pregnancy thrombocytopenia is related to an immune process include TTP and ITP. Immune thrombocytopenia (ITP) is an autoimmune disorder described by low platelet counts that occurs as a result of maternal autoantibodies transportation through the placenta and target platelet membrane so neonatal platelets are destroyed.¹¹

Determining the causes and mechanisms of NT is the best way to develop the more appropriate treatment, including modern approaches. For example detection of NT's main causes is important to identify neonates at risk of hemorrhage and select who would benefit from platelet transfusion (PT) and to determine whether PT either abolish or intensify common neonatal problems such as sepsis, chronic lung disease, NEC, and retinopathy of prematurity.¹² In This paper we explain prevalent opinion about the reasons of NT considering fetomaternal and neonatal conditions and causes of thrombocytopenia in immune and nonimmune factors.

Causes and Mechanisms

Neonatal diseases: Almost 9.4-35% of admitted NICUs neonates to develop thrombocytopenia. Multiple disease processes can result in thrombocytopenia in neonates and these can be arranged as early-onset (< 72 hours) and late-onset (> 72 hours) NT. The significant causes of thrombocytopenia in neonates are low birth weight, sepsis, asphyxia, prematurity, birth intrauterine growth retardation, hyperbilirubinemia, and meconium aspiration syndrome. Apart from platelet counts, bleeding disorders depend on underlying diseases.¹³

			Prevalence
Neonatal	Nonimmune	Placental insufficiency	-
		Perinatal asphyxia	-
		Perinatal infection	-
		DIC	-
	Immune	FNAIT	-
Maternal	Nonimmune	Gestational thrombocytopenia	70-80%
(pregnancy-associated causes)		Preeclampsia	15-22%
		HELLP	1-4 %
		Acute fatty liver of pregnancy	< 1%
		Dengue	1-2%
	Immune	ITP	2%

Table 1. Causes of neonatal	thrombocytopenias: Neonatal	and maternal diseases
- usie - suuses of meaninum	unonisoe, copenast i teonata	and material alocaoto

Apparently neonates with thrombocytopenia may develop a high risk of hemorrhage and fatality. This increased risk is associated with the important role of platelets in the whole process of hemostasis, and thrombocytopenia may lead to dysfunctional hemostasis. The differential diagnosis for thrombocytopenia is divided into traditionally disorders of decreased platelet production against those of increased platelet consumption or destruction. We arranged causes of thrombocytopenia in immune and nonimmune reasons. Decreased platelet production and increased platelet consumption (sepsis, placental insufficiency, and birth asphyxia) are the nonimmune reason, and destruction with antibodies is of classified as the immune reason thrombocytopenia (Table 1, 2).

Table 2. Comparison of early and late onset of thrombocytopenia in premature neonates

unonnootytop	enna ni prematare neonates
Early onset	Sepsis
< 24 hours	TORCH infection
	Birth asphyxia
	DIC
	NEC
Late onset	Sepsis
>72 hours	Thrombosis
	DIC
	NEC
	Drug-induced

Nonimmune

Decreased platelet production: Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) are pluripotent cells that inhabit in the bone marrow (BM) and can

differentiate into all blood cell lineages.14 production defined Platelet as thrombopoiesis, is a convened process that results in the manufacture of thrombopoietin (TPO) as the thrombopoietic stimulus leading proliferation of the megakaryocyte to progenitors.^{12,15} Megakaryocytes (MKs) in the BM generate blood platelets, necessary for thrombosis and hemostasis. MKs derive from HSCs and migrate from an endosteal niche towards the vascular sinusoids during their maturation.¹⁶ TPO is the hematopoietic growth factor and is the major cytokine platelet triggering production. TPO contributes to the self-renewal of HSCs and also persuades transcription factors causing to the expression of proteins like CD42 or CD41 that commit HSCs to the platelet lineage.¹⁷

Situations increased platelet consumption

Sepsis: Sepsis is one of the major reasons of thrombocytopenia in neonates. Thrombocytopenia is presented in neonates with bacterial, fungal, viral, rickettsial and, protozoal infections. Thrombocytopenia in the very premature infant is most often secondary to sepsis, come NEC, birth asphyxia, after chronic intrauterine hypoxia, DIC and TORCH (toxoplasmosis, other agents, rubella. cytomegalovirus, and herpes simplex) infections.^{18,19} Bacterial infections can be related to thrombocytopenia or reactive thrombocytosis. The pathogenic actions thrombocytopenia complicated in are numerous and include the incidence of DIC

during sepsis, the adhesion of platelets to the endothelium, activated vascular or an increased consumption related with the neutrophil formation of extracellular catchs.^{19,20} Several patients with bacterial septicemia may extend coagulopathy related to DIC. The presence of thrombocytopenia is seen mostly in early sepsis with or without laboratory evidence of obvious DIC.²¹ Thrombocytopenia may quickly become very serious with the lowest platelet count extended within 24-48 hours after beginning of contamination. The significance of the relation between thrombocytopenia and sepsis confirmed by recognizing was one of the most thrombocytopenia as prognosticate and autonomous risk factors for sepsis-associated fatality in very low birth weight neonates."

Placental abruption: Placental abruption, defined as the premature separation of the normally implanted placenta from the uterus, before birth and after 20 weeks of pregnancy. Placental abruption is one of the most considerable determinants of maternal morbidity as well as perinatal morbidity and fatality and complicates approximately 1% of births.²² The incidence of concomitant DIC can cause a range of problems to both mother and neonate like as emergency cesarean transfer due to unreliable fetal condition, hemorrhage, cerebral palsy, acute uncontrollable hemorrhage requiring hysterectomy, multi-organ defeat. and maternal and fetal death.²³ Thus, placental abruption is a situation needing proper perinatal management. While primary recognition and quick cure are both necessary for making the outcomes better for mother and neonate, high-level medical facilities and improvement of the emergency patient transport system are also important.²⁴

Immune

Fetal and neonatal alloimmune thrombocytopenia: Fetal and neonatal alloimmune thrombocytopenia (FNAIT) is a disorder in pregnant women. The incidence of

is approximately FNAIT 1 in 1000 pregnancies.^{25,26} Differences in platelet type between the fetus and the mother can result in maternal immunization and destruction of the platelets, specified fetal by maternal alloantibodies directed against the human platelet antigen (HPA). When these HPAalloantibodies get into the fetal circulation after entering the placenta via FcRn transport, they can destruct fetal platelets as well as damage endothelial cells, which may cause haemorrhagic problems. These antibodies can lead to intracranial hemorrhage (ICH) or other great bleeding resulting in long-lasting defects or death.²⁷ Optimal fetal care can be provided by at the right time identification of pregnancies at risk.²⁸ These bleedings can alter from small skin appearances to severe ICHs or even perinatal death. In lack of population-based screening for FNAIT, cases are mostly diagnosed in case of manifestation. Consequently, **FNAIT** requires fast identification and therapy; following pregnancies need close management.^{29,30} monitoring and

Causes of Neonatal Thrombocytopenia: maternal diseases

Thrombocytopenia during **Pregnancy:** Thrombocytopenia is second commonest hematological disorder in pregnancy after anemia,⁹ that affects approximately 7-10% of pregnancy.³¹ Most studies report a reduction in platelet count about 10% lower than the values. pre-pregnant During normal pregnancy, there is a physiological reduction in platelet count due to hemodilution, increased consumption in peripheral tissue and increased aggregation. The causes include thrombocytopenia gestational (GT) and hypertensive disorders (preeclampsia; eclampsia; HELLP syndrome; and acute fatty liver of pregnancy (AFLP)) are nonimmune. Other nonimmune causes are DIC, hemolytic uremic syndrome, consumption of drugs, vitamin B12 or folate deficiency, aplastic anemia, myelophthisis and viral infections. The most common immune diseases include

thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP), immune thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP), autoimmune disorders, and pseudothrombocytopenia can result from ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)induced clumping of platelets, in which case, a new sample should be analyzed using citrate an anticoagulant.³² Thrombocytopenia as during pregnancy might also give a biomarker of a coexisting systemic or gestational problems and a potential cause for a maternal intervention or treatment that possible induce hurt to the fetus.³³ It can be a diagnostic and management problem, and has numerous causes, some of this are specific to pregnancy.

Non-immune

Gestational thrombocytopenia: Gestational thrombocytopenia (GT) is the most common reason of thrombocytopenia during pregnancy and associated with moderate thrombocytopenia. GT take place in 4.4% to 11.6% of pregnancies, reporting for about 75% of all cases of thrombocytopenia in pregnancy. Platelet count $< 70,000/\mu$ L excludes the diagnosis of GT. GT happens in 3rd trimester of pregnancy that is most possible from hemodilution related to an increase in plasma volume during pregnancy and possibly increased platelet clearance as mean platelet volumes, and platelet-derived cyclooxygenase products rise. Thrombocytopenia is more frequent in twin and triplet gestations. The pathophysiology entails that the fetus waste products into mothers blood increases the activity of spleen of mother which removes blood cells rapidly causing destruction of platelets. Patients generally show no alarming symptom due to GT. A subset of women with GT develop a more significant decrease in platelet count reduction antithrombin and а in III. recommending a distinct pathogenesis that depends on a sequence with the HELLP syndrome and AFLP and that may be correlated with a higher risk of relapse in subsequent pregnancies. GT needs no treatment but resolves spontaneously. The

diagnosis of GT is challenging and is difficult to differentiate between ITP and GT.³⁴

disorders: *Hypertensive* Hypertensive disorders were the 2nd most common cause of thrombocytopenia during pregnancy (15- 20%). hypertensive disorders include preeclampsia, eclampsia, HELLP syndrome, liver of pregnancy.³⁵ The fatty acute mechanism pathophysiologic of thrombocytopenia in hypertensive disorders is the thrombotic microangiopathy distinguish by endothelial hurt, after platelet aggregation and then formation of thrombus in small The indications of thrombotic vessels. microangiopathy existence are the of schistocytes on peripheral blood smear and increased bilirubin > 1.2 mg/ dL, reduced haptoglobin < 25mg/dl and increased LDH.

Immune thrombocytopenia

ITP: Immune thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP), an autoimmune disease determined by the anti-platelet glycoprotein (GP) antibodies that induce the platelet destruction in the spleen, is uncommon cause a of thrombocytopenia in pregnancy. However ITP takes place only in 3-4% of all patients of thrombocytopenia during pregnancy, it is the most current reason of a platelet count below 50×10^3 per μ L indicate in the first and second trimesters. Platelet counts may reduce during pregnancy, and at least 15% to 35% of mothers need treatment even prior to management of labor and delivery. This form relies on operation patterns, so that require for treatment is probably to be more current in tertiary-care referral centers. Maternal and neonatal outcomes are commonly good.³³ differently from GT, ITP can happen anytime during gestation and almost all gravid women with ITP may have history а of thrombocytopenia previous to pregnancy. The platelet count does not automatically cure postpartum and the therapeutic reply to steroids or intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg) contributes to the treatment of ITP. In conclusion, a neonatal outcome with maternal ITP is generally good.

Discussion

Neonatal thrombocytopenia (NT) is one of the common hemostatic abnormalities most newborns in the NICU and among overrepresented among extremely low birth weight neonates.³⁶ NT has many potential etiologies and a wide range of diseases have a role in its occurrence.⁶ So many studies have described different aspects of NT include causes, prevalence, clinical lab diagnostics, risk factors, risk category, time of onset, bleeding manifestation, treatment, and platelet transfusion.^{37,38} There is a need to arrange and separate the etiology of it, so we evaluated neonatal and maternal causes together and described several etiologies.

The most common factors associated with NT in the newborn include placental abruption, placental insufficiency (intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR)), fetal and neonatal alloimmune thrombocytopenia (FNAIT), prematurity, sepsis (bacterial, fungal, and viral), NEC, asphyxia, meconium aspiration syndrome, DIC, hyperbilirubinemia, and The anemia. previous studies showed prematurity and sepsis and asphyxia were the most usual causes of NT.^{2,12,13,37}

But, FNAIT is the serious risk for intracranial hemorrhage in the infant. Thrombocytopenia in a very immature newborn is most recurrently secondary to sepsis, subsequent by necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC), birth asphyxia, chronic intrauterine hypoxia, TORCH infections, or DIC.³⁹

In this topic, we also characterized determining reasons of thrombocytopenia in pregnant women and its impact on newborns. The most current factors associated with NT in pregnancy include gestational thrombocytopenia (GT) and hypertensive disorders (preeclampsia; eclampsia; HELLP syndrome; and acute fatty liver of pregnancy (AFLP)) are nonimmune.⁴⁰ Other nonimmune causes are thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP), DIC, hemolytic uremic

syndrome, consumption of drugs, vitamin B12 or folate deficiency, aplastic anemia, systemic lupus erythematosus leukemia, (SLE) myelophthisis, and viral infections.³² Gestational thrombocytopenia was the commonest cause of thrombocytopenia with an incidence of 70-80%, followed by preeclampsia, HELLP, and ITP.41 GT is associated with better fetomaternal outcomes other etiologies.³² compared with ITP diagnosed before or during pregnancy is important for both the mother and the newborn.42 The risk of intense thrombocytopenia at delivery is more in ITP contrast with chronic ITP. Patients with GT and ITP have better maternal and perinatal outcomes as compared to hypertensive disorders include preeclampsia and HELLP syndrome.43

We also separated etiology in immune and nonimmune reasons. Decreased platelet production and increased platelet consumption (sepsis, placental insufficiency, and birth asphyxia) are the nonimmune reason, and destruction with antibodies is classified as the immune reason ofthrombocytopenia. The most common immune diseases that have a role in NT are and ITP. In FNAIT FNAIT maternal antibodies destroyed fetal platelets that lead to hemorrhagic problems intracranial hemorrhage (ICH) or other great bleeding resulting in long-lasting defects or death.² Optimal fetal care can be provided by at the right time identification of pregnancies at risk. These bleedings can alter from small skin appearances to severe ICHs or even perinatal death.³⁸ Consequently, FNAIT requires fast identification and therapy. In ITP neonatal destructed platelets are by maternal autoantibodies. Also, in ITP is widely accepted that the frequency of intracranial hemorrhage is very rare.⁴⁴ Generally in ITP maternal and neonatal outcomes are acceptable. But in ITP The platelet count does not automatically cure postpartum and the therapeutic reply to steroids or Intravenous Immunoglobulin (IVIg) is needed.⁴⁵

Best choice for treatment of NT according to the exact cause may be useful for clinicians. Detection of neonatal thrombocytopenia's main causes is important to identify neonates at risk of bleeding and select who would benefit from PT and to determine whether PT either abrogates or exacerbate common neonatal complications such as sepsis, chronic lung disease, necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC), and retinopathy of prematurity.^{12,46} Identification is largely based on the timing of its beginning, intensity of the thrombocytopenia, and the dependent with other disorders.^{34,47} There is a need for another study to compare risk factors between the neonatal and maternal group and differential diagnosis, and evaluated some other possible etiology.

Conclusion

In our study, we described different immunologic and nonimmunologic causes of neonatal thrombocytopenia. We also explained the most neonatal and maternal diseases that have roles in NT. However nonimmunologic causes are most prevalent but it seems immunological disorder is more severe than other causes. For example, several studies displayed that prematurity, sepsis, and asphyxia were the most usual factors related with NT. But in neonatal causes, FNAIT leads hemorrhagic problems, intracranial to hemorrhage (ICH), or other great bleeding resulting in long-lasting defects or death. In maternal reasons GT was the most current reason of thrombocytopenia with an incidence of 70-80%, but, it is associated with better fetomaternal outcomes compared with other etiologies. Also, thrombocytopenia is solitarily related to maternal hypertension, sepsis, and intravascular thrombosis. Optimal care of thrombocytopenia depends on the right time identification of pregnancies at risk and etiology management of it. Therefore monitoring of platelet count in pregnant women should be a routine preventive exam. The clinician should be aware of differential diagnosis findings and associated with unusual causes of thrombocytopenia that should prompt additional evaluation in the NICU.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

Acknowledgments

Not applicable.

How to Cite: Lookzadeh MH, Mirjalili SR, Ekraminasab S. Immune and Non-Immune Etiology of Thrombocytopenia: Neonatal and Maternal Causes. World J Peri & Neonatol 2020; 3(2): 78-86.

DOI: 10.18502/wjpn.v3i2.6158

References

- 1. Rottenstreich A, Israeli N, Levin G, Rottenstreich M, Elchalal U, Kalish Y. Clinical characteristics, neonatal risk and recurrence rate of gestational thrombocytopenia with platelet count< 100× 109/L. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2018; 231: 75-9.
- 2. Liu D, Wu J, Xiong T, Yue Y, Tang J. Platelet transfusion for neonates with thrombocytopaenia: protocol for a systematic review. BMJ Open 2020; 10(10): e039132.
- 3. Ayadi ID, Hamida EB, Youssef A, Sdiri Y, Marrakchi Z. Prevalence and outcomes of thrombocytopenia in a neonatal intensive care unit. Tunis Med 2016; 94(4): 305-8.
- 4. Arif H, Ikram N, Riaz S, Nafisa A. Risk factors and outcome of neonatal thrombocytopenia. J Rawalpindi Med Coll 2020; 24(3): 229-234.
- Gordon P, Christensen R, Weitkamp J-H, Maheshwari A. Mapping the New World of Necrotizing Enterocolitis (NEC): Review and Opinion. EJ Neonatol Res 2012; 2(4): 145-72.
- 6. Roberts I, Murray NA. Neonatal thrombocytopenia: causes and management. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2003; 88(5): F359-64.
- Ree IMC, Fustolo-Gunnink SF, Bekker V, Fijnvandraat KJ, Steggerda SJ, Lopriore E. Thrombocytopenia in neonatal sepsis: Incidence, severity and risk factors. PLoS One 2017; 12(10): e0185581.
- 8. K Peterson JA, Mcfarland JG, Curtis BR, Aster RH. Neonatal alloimmune thrombocytopenia:

Pathogenesis, diagnosis and management. Br J Haematol 2013; 161(1): 3-14.

- Wang X, Xu Y, Luo W, Feng H, Luo Y, Wang Y, et al. Thrombocytopenia in pregnancy with different diagnoses. Med (United States) 2017; 96(29): 1-5.
- 10.Bergmann F, Rath W. Übersichtsarbeit: Differenzialdiagnose der Thrombozytopenie in der Schwangerschaft: Eine interdisziplinäre Herausforderung. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2015; 112(47): 795-802.
- 11.Melekoğlu NA, Bay A, Aktekin EH, Yilmaz M, Sivasli E. Neonatal outcomes of pregnancy with immune thrombocytopenia. Indian J Hematol Blood Transfus 2017; 33(2): 211-5.
- 12.Resch E, Hinkas O, Urlesberger B, Resch B. Neonatal thrombocytopenia—causes and outcomes following platelet transfusions. Eur J Pediatr 2018; 177(7): 1045-52.
- 13. Tirupathi K, Swarnkar K, Vagha J. Study of risk factors of neonatal thrombocytopenia. Int J Contemp Pediatr 2016; 4(1): 191.
- 14.Jung HE, Shim YR, Oh JE, Oh DS, Lee HK. The autophagy protein Atg5 plays a crucial role in the maintenance and reconstitution ability of hematopoietic stem cells. Immune Netw 2019; 19(2): 1-13.
- 15. Koltsova EM, Balashova EN, Ignatova AA, Poletaev AV, Polokhov DM, Kuprash AD, et al. Impaired platelet activity and hypercoagulation in healthy term and moderately preterm newborns during the early neonatal period. Pediatr Res 2019; 85(1): 63-71.
- 16.Stegner D, Vaneeuwijk JMM, Angay O, Gorelashvili MG, Semeniak D, Pinnecker J,et al. Thrombopoiesis is spatially regulated by the bone marrow vasculature. Nat Commun 2017; 8(1): 127.
- 17.Grozovsky R, Giannini S, Falet H, Hoffmeister KM. Regulating billions of blood platelets: Glycans and beyond. Blood 2015; 126(16): 1877-84.
- 18.Koltsova EM, Balashova EN, Ignatova AA, Poletaev AV, Polokhov DM, Kuprash AD, et al. Impaired platelet activity and hypercoagulation in healthy term and moderately preterm newborns during the early neonatal period. Pediatr Res 2019; 85(1): 63-71.
- 19. D'Atri LP, Rodríguez CS, Miguel CP, Pozner RG, Wilczyñski JM, Negrotto S, et al. Activation of toll-like receptors 2 and 4 on CD34+ cells increases human megakaryo/thrombopoiesis

induced by thrombopoietin. J Thromb Haemost 2019; 17(12): 2196-210.

- 20.Levi M. Pathogenesis and diagnosis of disseminated intravascular coagulation. Int J Lab Hematol 2018; 40(Suppl 1): 15-20.
- 21.Arif SH, Ahmad I, Ali SM, Khan HM. Thrombocytopenia and bacterial sepsis in neonates. Indian J Hematol Blood Transfus 2012; 28(3): 147-51.
- 22.i Y, Tian Y, Liu N, Chen Y, Wu F. Analysis of 62 placental abruption cases: Risk factors and clinical outcomes. Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol 2019; 58(2): 223-6.
- 23. Takeda J, Takeda S. Management of disseminated intravascular coagulation associated with placental abruption and measures to improve outcomes. Obstet Gynecol Sci 2019; 62(5): 299-306.
- 24. Tikkanen M. Placental abruption: Epidemiology, risk factors and consequences. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2011; 90(2): 140-9.
- 25.Regan F, Lees CC, Jones B, Nicolaides KH, Wimalasundera RC, Mijovic A. Prenatal management of pregnancies at risk of fetal neonatal alloimmune thrombocytopenia (FNAIT): Scientific Impact Paper No. 61. BJOG 2019; 126(10):e173-e185.
- 26. Tiller H, Husebekk A, Ahlen MT, Stuge TB, Skogen B. Current perspectives on fetal and neonatal alloimmune thrombocytopeniaincreasing clinical concerns and new treatment opportunities. Int J Womens Health 2017; 9: 223-34.
- 27.Baker JM, Shehata N, Bussel J, Murphy MF, Greinacher A, Bakchoul T, et al. Postnatal intervention for the treatment of FNAIT: a systematic review. J Perinatol 2019; 39(10): 1329-39.
- 28.de Vos TW, Winkelhorst D, de Haas M, Lopriore E, Oepkes D. Epidemiology and management of fetal and neonatal alloimmune thrombocytopenia. Transfus Apher Sci 2020; 59(1): 102704.
- 29. Winkelhorst D, Oepkes D, Lopriore E. Fetal and neonatal alloimmune thrombocytopenia: evidence based antenatal and postnatal management strategies. Expert Rev Hematol 2017; 10(8): 729-37.
- 30.Lieberman L, Greinacher A, Murphy MF, Bussel J, Bakchoul T, Corke S, et al. Fetal and neonatal alloimmune thrombocytopenia: recommendations for evidence-based practice,

an international approach. Br J Haematol 2019; 185(3): 549-62.

- 31.Godara DS, Vyas DL, Narendra D. Prevalence of thrombocytopenia during pregnancy and its effect on pregnancy and neonatal outcome. Sch J Appl Med Sci 2020; 8(2): 681-4.
- 32.Gaba N, Gaba S. Etiology and fetomaternal outcomes of thrombocytopenia during pregnancy. Perinatology 2020; 21(2): 45-9.
- 33.Cines DB, Levine LD. Thrombocytopenia in pregnancy. Blood 2017; 130(21): 2271-7.
- 34.Qureshi AN, Sakina, Taqi T, Khatoon H, Ahmed I. Risk factors and fetomaternal outcome in pregnancy with thrombocytopenia. Prof Med J 2019; 26(11): 1942-6.
- 35.Brady CW. Liver disease in pregnancy: What's new. Hepatol Commun 2020; 4(2): 145-56.
- 36.Christensen RD, Henry E, Wiedmeier SE, Stoddard RA, Sola-Visner MC, Lambert DK, et al. Thrombocytopenia among extremely low birth weight neonates: Data from a multihospital healthcare system. J Perinatol 2006; 26(6): 348-53.
- 37.Pishko AM, Levine LD, Cines DB. Thrombocytopenia in pregnancy: Diagnosis and approach to management. Blood Rev 2020; 40:100638.
- 38.Bertrand G, Blouin L, Boehlen F, Levine E, Minon JM, Winer N. Management of neonatal thrombocytopenia in a context of maternal antiplatelet alloimmunization: Expert opinion of the French-speaking working group. Arch Pediatr 2019; 26(3): 191-97.
- 39.Sillers L, Van Slambrouck C, Lapping-Carr G. Neonatal thrombocytopenia: etiology and diagnosis. Pediatr Ann 2015; 44(7): e175-80.

- 40.Subtil SFC, Mendes JMB, Areia ALFDA, Moura JPAS. Update on thrombocytopenia in pregnancy. Rev Bras Ginecol Obstet 2020; 42(12): 834-40.
- 41.Padmawar A, Verma PG, Khadse G, Dhishana SR. Maternal and fetal outcome of pregnancies complicated with thrombocytopenia. Indian J Obstet Gynecol Res 2020; 7(4): 540-3.
- 42.Silva CL, Grando AC. Complications of idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura in pregnancy: a review of literature. J Bras Patol Med Lab 2021; 57: 1-8.
- 43. Arora M, Goyal L, Khutan H. Prevalence of thrombocytopenia during pregnancy & its effect on pregnancy & neonatal outcome. Ann Int Med Dent Res 2017; 3(2): 4-6.
- 44.Hamad MNM, Idam DK, Alshazali HA. Prevalence of gestational thrombocytopenia among selected group of pregnant women attended to Soba University Hospita. AJRCPS 2017; 5(4): 144-9.
- 45. Kong Z, Qin P, Xiao S, Zhou H, Li H, Yang R, et al. A novel recombinant human thrombopoietin therapy for the management of immune thrombocytopenia in pregnancy. Blood 2017; 130(9): 1097-103.
- 46.Davenport PE, Chan Yuen J, Briere J, Feldman HA, Sola-Visner MC, Leeman KT. Implementation of a neonatal platelet transfusion guideline to reduce non-indicated transfusions using a quality improvement framework. J Perinatol 2021, 1-8.
- 47.Gernsheimer T, James AH, Stasi R. How I treat thrombocytopenia in pregnancy. Blood 2013; 121(1): 38-47.



Case Report

http://wjpn.ssu.ac.ir

A Case Report of Hyperphosphatasia Treated with Pamidronate

Naser Ali Mirhosseini^{1*}, Sana Taghiyar², Mahdieh Saatchi¹

¹ Department of Pediatrics, Shahid Sadoughi Hospital, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran ² Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

Received: 17 July 2020

Revised: 26 August 2020

Accepted: 5 October 2020

ARTICLE INFO

Corresponding author: Naser Ali Mirhosseini

Email: nasserali.mirhosseini@yahoo.com

Keywords:

Alkaline Phosphatase; Deformities; Hyperphosphatasia; Pamidronate

ABSTRACT

Background: Hereditary hyperphosphatasia is a congenital and rare disease with high bone turn over. The disease is defined with extremely elevated alkaline phosphatase levels. Neonates with hyperphosphatasia are normal at birth but develop progressive long bone deformities, fracture, vertebral collapse, skull enlargement due to massively thickened calvarium, and deafness.

Case Presentation: Here, we described a male patient with progressive deformity in limbs and pain during walking that onset of symptoms was from age of two. The patient admitted to the Shahid Sadoughi Hospital, Yazd, was born from a non-consanguineous marriage. He was treated with pamidronate until halt of the disease progression and followed up for 18 months.

Conclusion: Bisphosphonate is the treatment of choice for hyperphosphatasia because it can normalize bone turnover, improve growth rates, and skeletal quality.

Introduction

Hereditary hyperphosphatasia is a rare high bone turn over and autosomal recessive bone disease with extremely elevated alkaline phosphatase levels and normal calcium and phosphate levels which occurs in infancy or early childhood with male predilection.^{1,2} Families have been characterized as having a homozygous deletion of the *TNFRSF11B* gene that encodes osteoprotegerin (OPG).³ The loss of OPG function results in generalized extremely rapid bone turnover.⁴ Bone turnover is high and its markers such as alkaline phosphatase and hydroxyproline are increased.⁵

The phenotypic variability ranges from presentation in infancy with severe progressive deformity to presentation in late childhood with minimal deformity.⁶ Osteoid proliferation in the subperiosteal portion of bone leads to separation of the periosteum from the bone cortex. Bowing and thickening of the diaphysis are common along with osteopenia. Affected children are normal at birth but the disease usually has its onset by 2-3 years of age when painful deformity developing in the extremities results in abnormal gait and sometimes fractures. Other common findings include pectus excavatum, kyphoscoliosis, and rib fraying. The skull is long and the cranium is thickened and may be deformed. Progressive and profound hearing loss can arise because of skull involvement.⁷

On radiographs, the bony texture is variable. dense area interspersed with radiolucent areas and general demineralization (cotton- wool appearance). cylindrical, lose Long bones appear metaphyseal modeling, and contain pseudocysts that show a dense, bony halo.⁷

At present, treatment is far from optimal and consists of calcitonin to reduce bone turn over and bisphosphonates to inhibit bone Therapy with resorption. recombinant osteoprotegerin has shown promising results in adults.⁶ Intravenous pamidronate therapy can reduce the rapid bone turnover, bone pain, prevent deformity and disability and improve hearing. However, this effect can be transient. In case of resistance to pamidronate therapy, switching to another bisphosphonate like zoledronate may provide long-term clinical and biochemical improvement as an alternative treatment.⁵ Cyclical intravenous pamidronate (1 mg/kg/day during 3 h, 3 consecutive days at 2- to 3-month intervals) administration for 2 years with oral calcium 500 mg and vitamin D 1000 IU/day and oral pamidronate addition after 11 months of intravenous therapy (I.V. therapy) is also effective.⁸

Case Presentation

A 5-year-old boy presented to the clinic with progressive deformity in limbs (Figure 1, 2, 3) and pain during walking from the age of 2. He had also increased head circumference and a history of left humerus bone fracture at

birth. The parents had no consanguinity.



Figure 1. Bowing of legs

In his physical examination, growth index was as below:

Weight: 16 kg (10%), Height: 109 cm (50%) and Head circumference: 53 cm

Laboratory tests were as below:

calcium: 10.6 mg/dl (NL:8.5–10.5)

phosphate: 5.3 mg/dl (NL:3.5–6.6) alkaline phosphatase: 8211 U/L (NL:133-347)



Figure 2. Bowing and thickening of the diaphysis and osteopenia

Radiographs showed large skull and thickened cranium with cotton wool appearance (Figure 4).



Figure 3. Deformity of ulna and radial bones is seen



Figure 4. Skull is large and cranium is thickened with the cotton wool appearance

With the diagnosis of hyperphosphatasia, cyclical intravenous pamidronate (1 mg/kg/day during3 h, 3 consecutive days at 3-month intervals) started for him for 3.5 years. During treatment, limb deformities do not progress and he is good after 18 months follow up.

Discussion

We report a 5- year- old boy with progressive deformity of limbs and pain during walking from 2 years ago. With the diagnosis of hyperphosphatasia, he was treated with cyclical intravenous pamidronate (1mg/kg/day during 3 consecutive days at 3-month intervals for 3.5 years).

During treatment and 18 months follow up, limb deformity has shown no progress and bone pain has been resolved.

In similar studies, bisphonate (pamidronate) is selective treatment for improving growth rates and skeletal quality.⁸

Treatment with pamidronate is not a definitive treatment and due to the rarity of the disease, the authors of present article are interested in using the experiences of researchers.

Conclusion

Hereditary hyperphosphatasia is a rare autosomal recessive disorder (prevalence < 1in 10 million). Its progressive skeletal deformities are associated with multiple fractures, which become apparent in the second or third year of life and result in dwarfing and sporadic cranial nerve involvement; loss of normal cortical outlines with the involvement of long bones from epiphysis to epiphysis. Serum calcium and phosphate levels are normal. The diagnosis establishes based on clinical, radiological, and histological features. Fractures, deformities, diffuse sclerosis on radiographs and high serum alkaline phosphatase is characteristic. As bisphosphonate can normalize bone turnover, improve growth rates, and skeletal quality, it is the treatment of choice for hyperphosphatasia.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the patient's family for their cooperation in this study.

How to Cite: Mirhosseini NA, Taghiyar S, Saatchi M. A Case Report of Hyperphosphatasia Treated with Pamidronate. World J Peri & Neonatol 2020; 3(2): 87-9. DOI: 10.18502/wjpn.v3i2.6159

References

- 1. Chosich N, Long F, Wong R, Topliss DJ, Stockigt JR. Post-partum hypercalcemia in hereditary hyperphosphatasia (juvenile Paget's disease). J Endocrinol Invest 1991; 14(7): 591-7.
- 2. Kumar SRR, Bagalad BS, Manohar CB, Kuberappa PH. Intermediate type of juvenile paget's disease: a rare case in Indian population. Contemp Clin Dent 2017; 8(1): 175-8.
- 3. Krakow D. Skeletal dysplasias. Clin Perinatol 2015; 42(2): 301-19.
- 4. Polyzos SA, Cundy T, Mantzoros CS. Juvenile Paget disease. Metabolism. 2018; 80: 15-26.
- 5. Gonc EN, Ozon A, Buyukyilmaz G, Alikasifoglu A, Simsek OP, Kandemir N. Acquired resistance to pamidronate treated effectively with zoledronate in juvenile Paget's disease. Osteoporos Int 2018; 29(6): 1471-4.
- Roth K, Sarafoglou K, HoffmannG. Pediatric endocrinology and inborn errors of metabolism. 2nd ed. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Education; 2017.
- Behrman RE, Kliegman R, Nelson WE. Nelson textbook of pediatrics. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier; 2015.
- Sreejan CK, Gopakumar N, Subhas Babu G. Chronic idiopathic hyperphosphatasia with unusual dental findings - A case report. J Clin Exp Dent 2012; 4(5): e313-e316.



Case Report

http://wjpn.ssu.ac.ir

A Case Report of Familial Chylomicronemia Syndrome

Mahtab Ordooei^{1,2}, Fariba Binesh³, Azam Ashrafi², Farzad Ferdosian^{2,4,5*}, Maryam Saeida-Ardekani²

¹ Hematology and Oncology Research Center, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

² Mother and Newborn Health Research Center, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

³ Infectious Diseases Research Center, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

⁴ Children Growth Disorder Research Center, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

⁵ Department of Pediatrics, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

Received: 7 September 2020

Revised: 12 October 2020

Accepted: 8 November 2020

ARTICLE INFO

Corresponding author: Farzad Ferdosian

Email:

ferdosianfarzad@yahoo.com

Keywords:

Chylomicronemia; Hypertriglyceridemia; Hemolytic Anemia; Leukocytosis; Pancreatitis

ABSTRACT

Background: Diagnosis of neonatal chylomicronemia, as a very rare condition, is very difficult and usually is diagnosed when acute pancreatitis sets in. Early diagnosis can prevent the complications such as acute pancreatitis and pancreatic necrosis which are associated with the condition.

Case Presentation: A 5.5 month- old female breastfed baby presented to us suffering from splenomegaly because of respiratory infection. Anemia and leukocytosis were seen in laboratory data. The result of bone marrow aspiration (BMA) performed to diagnosis was normal. Following the study, the patient had a high triglyceride, which improved with the treatment of symptoms and blood indices.

Conclusion: Our case reports a rare disorder that was initially admitted with suspicion of malignancy, organomegaly, anemia and leukocytosis. In the course of hospitalization, the diagnosis of malignancy was rejected after BMA, and chylomicronemia was diagnosed and the patient's leukocytosis and high uric acid were eliminated by treatment of the disease and the patient's symptoms were improved.

Introduction

F(FCS) is a rare autosomal recessive disorder caused by mutations in lipoprotein lipase, apolipoprotein C-II deficiency or the presence of inhibitors to lipoprotein lipase, resulting in accumulation

chylomicrons of in plasma and hypertriglyceridemia. There are several complications elevated caused by triglycerides patients which in acute pancreatitis is the most serious being episodes.¹⁻³ Due to its rarity and lack of specificity of signs and symptoms, the

recognition and correct diagnosis of the disease is challenging.⁴ FCS is characterized by marked elevation of triglyceride and chylomicron levels, leading to lipemic plasma, recurrent attacks of acute pancreatitis, hepatosplenomegaly, eruptive xanthoma. prevalence lipemia retinalis.² Its is approximately 1 million for in 1 homozygotes.⁵⁻⁷ Twenty- five percent of cases familial chylomicronemia of syndrome manifest during infancy; however, extremely rare cases manifest during the neonatal period. Pink- colored blood, milky white supernatant and falsely elevated pseudohyponatremia can be caused by severe hypertriglyceridemia. Lab studies usually show very high levels of triglycerides.⁶ Treatment of patients with familial chylomicronemia requires severe dietary fat restriction to maintain fasting TG levels below 850 mg/dl to reduce the risk of pancreatitis.⁸⁻¹⁰

Case Presentation

The patient was a 5.5 month-old female baby of non-consanguineous parents admitted to Shahid Sadoughi hospital due to respiratory infection who was accidentally considered as suffering from splenomegaly in physical examination. Anemia and leukocytosis were found in laboratory tests. She did not have poor feeding, vomiting, restlessness, fever, any change in urination and defecation, diarrhea, constipation, and melena. The patient was the third child of a G3L3Ab0 mother created by a caesarian. Her parents had no relationship. There was no case history for the mother during pregnancy and she was also not on drugs during pregnancy. The patient's family history, medication-taking history and medical allergy were negative. The patient was breastfed and baby food was not started yet. She was pale, not jaundiced and didn't have a syndromic face. The fontanel was open, but not wide. The nasal bridge was not wide and the ears did not have a low set. The patient didn't have a cleft palate. The chest was not deformed in observation. There was no reduction in lung voice sound during auscultation. There were also no rales and wheezing, and sounds from two sides were normal and symmetrical in cardiac auscultation. There was no heart murmur and extra sound. No apparent lesion and scar was seen in stomach examination. No mass was touched. A splenomegaly about 6-5 cm under the edge of the ribs was touched. Hepatomegaly was not obvious.

In the patient laboratory data: The results of laboratory tests showed high uric acid, WBC, bilirubin and TG, and low hemoglobin (Table 1).

Table 1. laboratory data			
Test	Preliminary result	Unit	
BS	165		
urea	9	mg/dl	
cr	0.4	mg/dl	
Bili T	3.1	mg/dl	
Bili D	1.1	mg/dl	
ALT	30	U/L	
AST	160	U/L	
LDH	4546	U/L	
Retic	1.8		
W.B.C	55700	3/ml^ X10	
PLT	275000		
Hb	9.9	mg/dl	
CRP	Weakly positive	mg/l	
Coombs D & I	Negative		
Uric Acid	19	mg/dl	
ESR	4		
CHOL	132	mg/dl	
TG	1284	mg/dl	
HDL	25	U/L	
Na	135	mEq/L	
Κ	3.3	mEq/L	
Ferritin	112	ng/ml	
Lipase	218	U/L	
Amylase	26	U / ml	

Peripheral blood smear: The patient's REC morphology

• Severe anisocytosis, hypochromia, dacryocytosis & schistocytosis

• 47NRBC /100WBC

The patients second PBC Sample

• RBC Morphology: Aniso + poikilo+ Hypo +Target+sphrocytosis +

• 3NRBC / 100WBC

Primarily the patient hospitalized at an

emergency department, considering the breast-fed signs the necessary tests requested, ultrasound was performed and peripheral blood smear (PBS) was requested. Numerous nucleated red blood cells (NRBCs) were observed in patient's PBS that patients' was justifiable based leukocytosis on. Because of the milky blood, cholesterol and triglyceride were checked. In the reported samples, patient had high TG and normal cholesterol. Considering endocrine consultative symptoms, medical history and tests related to the second blood sample which was taken before feeding, triglycerides and cholesterol check were requested again. The abnormality chylomicronemia of was recognized for the patient through repetition. Enzymatic and genetic studies were not performed for definitive diagnosis due to high cost. The patient was subjected to a special milk diet, MCT Oil and Omega3. During hospitalization, the patient had a drop in hemoglobin which leads to a PBS request again. Heart signs at consultation and Echo were normal and had an EF of 55%. During patient's monitoring for a week, the experiments had a downward trend.

- Chol: 159 mg/dl
- •TG: 678 mg/dl
- WBC: 19900(Neu: 62% Lym: 20%)
- Hb: 10 (mcv: 75)
- PLT: 454000

A blood sample was also taken from patient's mother and father for checking triglycerides and cholesterol which both of them had a normal level.

Discussion

Hyperchilomicronemia leads to impaired laboratory test results. Because of thinning the membrane of red blood cells, hemolysis occurs more rapidly that leads to hemolytic anemia. In the mentioned case, there was high leukocytosis and uric acid and an increase in LDH according to the signs and laboratory results. At first, the patient was approached with suspected malignancy. Malignancy was rejected due to the normal bone marrow result after necessary examinations. The patient was treated for hyperchilomicronemia according to the results of tests during the hospitalization and diagnosis. After the treatment, the results of tests and hemolytic anemia were improving during the follow-up care. According to the results of the treatment, it can be concluded that an increase in blood triglyceride leads to disorders such as hemolytic anemia and leukocytosis and an increase in uric acid in laboratory studies. A similar result is reviewed in another report case.¹¹

Conclusion

High triglyceride can cause symptoms similar to hemolytic anemia and leukocytosis. Ruling out the malignancy, treatment can be started and normalization of blood indices has prospected in the follow-up.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the patient's family for their cooperation in this study.

How to Cite: Ordooei M, Binesh F, Ashrafi A, Ferdosian F, Saeida-Ardekani M. A Case Report of Familial Chylomicronemia Syndrome. World J Peri & Neonatol 2020; 3(2): 90-3. DOI: 10.18502/wjpn.v3i2.6160

References

- 1. Falko JM. Familial chylomicronemia syndrome: A clinical guide for endocrinologists. Endocr Pract 2018; 24(8): 756-63.
- 2. Chen YH, Ke ZL, Wang YX, Wang Y, Zheng YZ. Two case reports of familial chylomicronemia syndrome. Case Rep Pediatr 2012; 2012: 384719.
- Martín-Campos JM, Julve J, Roig R, Martínez S, Errico TL, Martínez-Couselo S, et al. Molecular analysis of chylomicronemia in a clinical laboratory setting: Diagnosis of 13 cases of lipoprotein lipase deficiency. Clin Chim Acta 2014; 429:61-8.
- 4. Stroes E, Moulin P, Parhofer KG, Rebours V,

Löhr JM, Averna M. Diagnostic algorithm for familial chylomicronemia syndrome. Atheroscler Suppl 2017: 1-7.

- 5. Wani K, Rashid M, Alaqaband MM, Manzoor S, Mushtaq S. Familial Chylomicronemia Syndrome (FCS) in a 10- day- old neonate: A case report. Int J Pediatr 2015; 3(1-2): 449-53.
- 6. Susheela AT, Vadakapet P, Pillai L, Thampi S. Familial chylomicronemia syndrome: a case report. J Med Case Rep 2021; 15(1): 1-5.
- Sowjanya SVNS, Lakshmi V, Thiagarajan K. Familial chylomicronemia: a rare case report. Indian J Case Reports 2017; 3(4): 211-5.
- 8. Lorenza Pugni, Enrica Riva, Carlo Pietrasanta, Claudio Rabacchi, Stefano Bertolini, Cristina Pederiva et al. Severe hypertriglyceridemia in a

newborn with monogenic lipoprotein lipase deficiency: an unconventional therapeutic approach with exchange transfusion. JIMD Rep 2014; 13: 59-64.

- 9. Eshraghi P, Esmaili Dooki MR. Bakhshandeh Bali MK. A case report of 5 y/o girl with familial chylomicronemia. Casp J Intern Med 2010; 1(3): 114-6.
- 10.Bhatia S, Joshi P, Kishore J, Jha C. A neonatal hypertriglyceridemia presenting with respiratory distress: a rare case report. Int J Contemp Pediatr2018; 5(6): 2347.
- 11.Dimeski G, Mollee P, Carter A. Increased lipid concentration is associated with increased hemolysis. Clin Chem 2005; 51(12): 2425.





Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences and Health Services of Yazd



Mother & Newborn Health Research Center